
Summons to Meeting

Monday 25 February 2019

Development Panel
Tuesday 5 March 2019, 1.00 pm

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Mark Jenkinson
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor David Wilson

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Lee Jardine on 01900 702502.

Agenda
1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 18)

To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 22 January 2019

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the 
meeting.

Page 1



5. 2/2018/0532 Residential development for 5 detached dwellings including 
associated infrastructure and landscaping, Land at Ellerbeck Brow, 
Brigham, Cockermouth  (Pages 19 - 48)

6. 2/2018/0372 Demolition of existing dwelling and re-development to provide 
part residential development and part allotments (outline with all matters 
reserved), Land rear of Moor House, Marsh Terrace, Ellenborough, 
Maryport  (Pages 49 - 80)

7. TPO/2018/12 - Tree Preservation Order for T1 Beech Tree, Land north of 
Friar Row, Caldbeck  (Pages 81 - 90)

8. 2/2018/0590 Change of use of land from agricultural to domestic use and 
erection of domestic storage building, Holme Croft, Westnewton, Wigton  
(Pages 91 - 102)

Deputy Monitoring Officer

Date of Next Meeting:

Tuesday 2 April 2019, 1.00 pm
Allerdale House, Workington

Page 2



At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, 
Workington on Tuesday 22 January 2019 at 1.00 pm

Members

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Nicky Cockburn
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Malcolm Grainger
Councillor Mark Jenkinson Councillor Ron Munby MBE
Councillor Jim Osborn Councillor Bill Pegram
Councillor David Wilson

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Carole Armstrong

Staff Present

L Jardine, K Kerrigan, S Long, C Nicholson, A Seekings, S Sewell and S Sharp

313. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 11th December 2018 were signed as a 
correct record.

314. Declaration of Interests 

None Declared

315. Questions 

None Received

316. 2/2018/0155 - Reserved Matters application for the erection of 224 
dwellings (Phase 2) following approval 2/2016/0670, Land off Strawberry 
How Road, Cockermouth 

Representations

Mr G R James spoke against the application

Councillor Alan Tyson spoke against the application

A written statement was read out from Ward Councillors Alan and Christine 
Smith against the application

The applicants David Hayward, Adam McNally and Graham Parker of Story 
Homes spoke in support of the application.

Application

The report recommended delegating the powers to the Head of Place 
Development to grant permission subject to conditions following the securing of 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



measures to retain the landscaping belt on and adjoining the site’s Eastern 
boundary.

The Planning and Building Control Manager introduced this item and the 
following application for a stopping up order given that they related to the same 
site, albeit advising members that each application should be considered 
separately.

He advised that neither were planning applications. 2/2018/0155 was an 
application for the layout, scale, appearance and landscaping reserved matters 
pursuant to an outline permission. The second application was for the stopping 
up part of an existing public right of way and the provision of a publicly 
accessible route instead, following adopted highways and, possibly, across a 
small area of public accessible land in the event that that land is not adopted.

The Planning and Building Control Manager continued the introduction to the 
item by explaining that there was an original permission approved in 2015 with 
a second permission following in 2017. It was the latter that was relevant. It 
granted full permission for phase 1 and outline permission for phase 2, albeit, 
the access arrangements to the whole site were considered and approved at 
that time. Phase 2 was for up to 224 dwellings in addition to 96 on phase 1.

The recommendation for the reserved matters application was to approve. 
However the Planning and Building Control Manager advised that, should 
members resolve to refuse of even defer consideration; he would need to 
update members as to the officer’s recommendation. Specifically, the 
recommendation for the stopping up order was that it be made. This was based 
on it passing both the necessity and merits case explained in the report. 
However, if the reserved matters was not resolved to be approved, then the 
necessity test would not have been met and he would then need to advise that 
the order was not made.

The Planning and Building Control Manager confirmed that members of the 
Panel visited the site in the morning. This included assessing it from the new 
bridge, from the start of the public right of way at Bellbrigg Lonning, from the 
end of Ullswater Drive and from Coniston Drive. Specific attention was paid to 
the alignment of the public right of way across the site.

He advised that the principle of the development was not up for consideration 
and confirmed to members that the details now proposed in these reserved 
matters accorded completely with the parameters of the outline permission.

Members were referred to the officer’s report and submitted details, the main 
issues being summarised as follows:-

Layout

The layout of the proposed development was considered to respond positively 
to the existing pattern and grain of development within the surrounding area, 
whilst providing a good quality scheme internally to the site.

Page 4



The proposal would achieve good connectivity with surrounding development 
and would secure the retention of two mature trees.

The layout is devoid of repetition and the routes are legible, overall the layout 
responds to the prevailing character of the area.

The Planning and Building Control Manager, at this stage, proposed that the 
officer recommendation be amended to revise condition 11 to make it clear that 
there was to be no vehicular access from Ullswater Drive and Coniston Drive.

Scale

The scheme consists of a range of houses, bungalows and flats, with either in-
curtilage parking of parking courts provided. The unit height ranges from single 
storey to three storey dwellings. The scale of development includes 100 
affordable units, equating to 44.5% of the total number.

Appearance

The proposal was considered to provide for a good standard of housing 
environment, providing adequate separation distances, external amenity space, 
in-curtilage parking and public open space for future residents.

Landscaping

The landscaping, including private gardens, responds to changes in levels, the 
site being noted for the fall from north to south. This development uses gradual 
terracing and falls within the site rather than higher retaining walls.

Affordable Housing Provision

The number of affordable housing units proposed complies with the 
requirements of the legal agreement attached to the outline consent, as does 
the tenure split of 75% social rent, 25% discounted sale. Housing services had 
confirmed their acceptability of the unit sizes proposed, based on the need 
evidenced in the locality.

Environmental Impact

Ecology – Both the Environment Agency and Natural England had requested 
the provision of a Silt Management and Incident Monitoring Plan for the 
construction phase, to reduce the likelihood of incidents impacting the Tom 
Rudd Beck.

Drainage – The application had been supported by an addendum to the original 
Flood Risk Assessment. This, along with the submitted drainage details 
demonstrate that the drainage strategy for surface water will be in general 
accordance with the flood risk and drainage strategy considered within the 
original Environmental Statement and assessed as having no significant 
adverse effects.

Page 5



Landscape and Visual Impact - 

The designation of the Lake District National Park as a World Heritage Site had 
been considered as part of an updated LVA. Any impacts on the Outstanding 
Universal Value of the WHS are not considered to be significant.

A debate ensued with questions being put, during the debate, by Members to 
the Planning and Building Control Manager. There was specific member 
discussion about traffic movements including off the site within the town.

Councillor Wilson moved a motion to defer due to lack of information in relation 
to traffic, this motion was refused as traffic has already been considered and 
approved in outline planning application 2/2014/0381.

There were also questions raised by members about the outline planning 
application process with officers confirming that the decision was robust and 
must not and could not be revisited.
Having accepted this, the debate turned to reserved matters, specifically noting 
the amenity value of the footpath and the experience from it.

Councillor Annison then moved to approve the application as per officer’s 
recommendations; this was seconded by Councillor Bales.

A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 5 voted in favour, 6 against, 0 
abstentions.

The motion was lost.

Councillor Bales then moved to approve the application as per officer’s 
recommendation with new wording of condition 11. This was seconded by 
Councillor Miskelly.

A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 5 voted in favour, 6 against, 0 
abstentions.

The motion was lost and debate continued in relation to traffic, with Head of 
Place Development and Corporate Director both clarifying the planning and 
legal implications from the original planning application approval.

Councillor Bales then moved again to approve the application as per officer’s 
recommendations, with the new wording of condition 11. This was seconded by 
Councillor Miskelly.

A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 6 voted in favour, 2 against with 3 
abstentions.

The motion was carried.

Resolved

Approved as per officer recommendation including the amendment to condition 
11. 

Page 6



Powers to grant permission subject to conditions will be delegated to the Head 
of Place Development.

Conditions

Accordance conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans:
Hastings v5
Mayfair V5
York V5
Worcester
Chartwell
The Elmswood
Camberley
Kettering
Worthing
The Hawthorn V5
The Rowan V5
Kingston V5
Hereford V5
The Malborough
The Birch V5
The Cherry V5
The Sycamore V5
Proposed Detailed site layout 1/2 10D-STO-100 Rev DD
Proposed Detailed Site Layout 2/2 10D-STO-100 Rev DD
Location plan 20032.LOC2
Landscape General Arrangement UG_11598_LAN_GA_DRW_01 Rev P07
Soft Landscape drawings:
Plan 1 - UG_11598_LAN_SL_DRW_05 rev P06
Plan 2 - UG_11598_LAN_SL_DRW_06 rev P04
Plan 3 - UG_11598_LAN_SL_DRW_07 Rev P04
Plan 4 - UG_11598_LAN_SL_DRW_08 Rev P04
Plan 5 - UG_11598_LAN_SL_DRW_09 Rev P04
Plan 6 - UG_11598_LAN_SL_DRW_10 Rev P04
Plan 7 - UG_11598_LAN_SL_DRW_11 Rev P04
Hard Landscape SL20032.90.9.HS Elevation treatment drawings - Sheet 
1/2 -
10D-STO-102 rev J and Sheet 2/2 - 10D-STO-102 Rev J
Proposed Boundary Treatments Plan 1/2 - 10D-STO-103 Rev J
Proposed Boundary Treatment Plan 2/2 - 10D-STO-103 Rev J
Parking Plan 10D-STO-509 Rev C
CMP Drawing SL20032.90.9.SL.BP Rev C
Management Company Plan SL20032.90.9.ML Rev C
Affordable plots plan SL20032.90.9.SL.RD Rev B
Footway Signage Plan SL20032.90.9.FSP
Boundary Details booklet:
1800mm High Fence (Open Boarded) BD-03 rev A,
1100mm Railing BD-09,

Page 7



1792mm High Brick Wall BD-15,
900mm High Stone Wall BD-17,
1800mm High Stone Wall BD-18,
1200mm Estate Railings BD-31,
1200mm High Railings BD-41,
1200mm High Netting Fence BD-52
Plot development schedule V5 Rev B 07.12.2018
Schedule of finishes SH126/90/12/SF - 7.12.2018
Substation - Close Coupled Substation front gabled roof detail General
Arrangement GTC-E-SS-0011_R1-9_1_of-1
Section A-D (1/2) 10D-STO-120 Rev C
Section A-D (2/2) 10D-STO-120 Rev C
Section E-F (1/2) 10D-STO-120 Rev C
Section E-F (2/2) 10D-STO-120 Rev C
Section G-I 10D-STO-120 Rev C
External Works drawing (1/4) C-GA-201 rev P5
External Works drawing (2/4) C-GA-202 rev P5
External Works drawing (3/4) C-GA-203 Rev P4
External Works drawing (4/4) C-GA-204 Rev P4
Drainage Arrangement (1/3) C-GA-401 Rev P4
Drainage Arrangement (2/3)C-GA-402 Rev P4
Drainage Arrangement (3/4) C-GA-403 rev P5
Drainage Arrangement (4/4) C-GA-404 Rev P5
Drainage Strategy OverviewC-GA-400 rev P6
SUDS Arrangement & Details C-GA-501 Rev P5 Dwg
UG_11598_LAN_LSN_DRW_13 Rev P01 Landscaping Supporting Notes 
Dwg
UG_11598_LAN_MS_DRW_15 Rev P01 Main Street Square Strategy Dwg
UG_11598_LAN_PA_DRW_12 Rev P01 Play Area Central Green
Garage Booklet
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be completed in accordance 
with the recommendations and mitigation measures contained within the 
Flood Risk Assessment Addendum produced by CK21 Ltd (referenced 
Rev A; dated April
2018).
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of surface water drainage and to 
minimise the risk of flooding from the development, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policies S29 and S2 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

3. The development hereby permitted shall be completed in accordance 
with the recommendations and mitigation measures contained within the 
updated Chapter 6A - Ecology.
Reason: To minimise the impacts of the development on the ecological interests 
of the site in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework, and 
Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Pre-Commencement Conditions:

Page 8



4. No development shall commence until a bat-sensitive lighting scheme 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority for the development, including the construction phase. Any 
temporary or permanent lighting installed at the site shall be in 
accordance with the approved details and where permanent, shall be 
retained for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To minimise the impacts of the development on the ecological interests 
of the site in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework, and 
Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

5. No development shall commence until a Silt Management Plan and 
Incident Monitoring Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The plans shall demonstrate how 
suspended solids from surface water run-off from the Phase 2 
construction works will be treated and removed and how risks of pollution 
will be monitored to avoid potential incidents. The Silt Management Plan 
shall be implemented as approved before development commences and 
both the Silt Management and Incident
Monitoring Plan shall be adhered to for the duration of the construction 
phase.
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to minimise the 
impacts of the development on the ecological interests of the adjacent water 
environment in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework, and 
Policies S35 and S36 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

6. No part of the development hereby permitted shall commence until an 
updated Construction Management Plan specific to Phase 2 has been 
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
Construction Management Plan shall include the following:
(a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, off-site parking, turning and 
compound areas;
(b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of 
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, 
deliveries.
All measurements should make reference to BS7445.
(c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, 
and light pollution.
(d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition;
(e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction 
and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities);
(f) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;
(g) Hours of working and deliveries;
(h) Highway signage/ Haulage routes. The approved statement shall be 
adhered to throughout the duration of the development.
Reason: Having regard to the layout of the proposed scheme and the proximity 
to existing residents, the updated CEMP for Phase 2 is considered necessary in 
the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 

Page 9



properties during the construction works of the development hereby approved, 
in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of 
highway safety.

7. No development within Phase 2 shall commence until a desktop study 
has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority 
which includes the investigation of soil contamination or gas risk from the 
site or surrounding area. Should the preliminary risk assessment identify 
any potential contamination which may affect human health, controlled 
waters or the wider environment, all necessary site investigation works 
within the site boundary must be carried out to establish the degree and 
nature of the contamination and its potential to pollute the environment or 
cause harm to human health. The scope of works for the site 
investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to 
their commencement.
Reason: Insufficient information has been provided within the submitted WYG 
Ground Investigation Report (WYG A081410, dated April 2014) to demonstrate 
that the proposed housing layout for Phase 2 would not be at risk from 
contamination itself, or would not increase risk to human health or the natural 
environment.
Additional assessment is considered necessary to minimise any risk during or 
post construction works arising from any possible contamination from the 
development in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

8. Should land affected by contamination be identified under the desktop 
study (condition 7) following site investigations, which poses 
unacceptable risks to human health, controlled waters or the wider 
environment, no development shall take place until a detailed remediation 
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of remediation 
options, identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and programme of 
the works to be undertaken including the verification plan.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 
any possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

9. The carriageways, footways, footpaths, cycle ways etc. shall be 
designed and constructed, drained and lit to a standard suitable for 
adoption and in this respect further details, including longitudinal/ cross 
sections, shall be submitted for phase 2 to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval before work commences on that phase. No work shall be 
commenced on that phase until a full specification has been approved. 
These details shall be in accordance with the standards laid down in the 
current Cumbria Design Guide. All works so approved shall be 
constructed before the development of that phase is complete and before 
the development of any new phase commences.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction to those internal roads 
detailed as part of the layout of Phase 2, in the interests of highway safety.

Page 10



10. Details of all measures to be taken by the applicant/developer to 
prevent surface water discharging onto or off the highway shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval prior to the 
development being commenced. Any approved works shall be 
implemented prior to the development being completed and shall be 
maintained operational at all times thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that the detailed layout for Phase 2 incorporates appropriate 
measures to control surface water, in the interests of highway safety.

Other conditions:

11. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, the estate railings proposed 
across those parts of the development site boundary that adjoin the cul 
de sac heads of Coniston Drive and Ullswater Drive shall not extend 
across the proposed footpath links and will prohibit vehicle access. No 
new fencing shall be erected at any time within the site to obstruct these 
pedestrian links.
Reason: To allow for pedestrian permeability through the site to adjoining land, 
in accordance with Policy S4 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 and advice 
contained within the NPPF (2018).

12. The proposed footpath link up to Coniston Drive (adjacent Plot 62) 
shall be laid up to the boundary of the site and any existing fencing within 
the site boundary shall be removed for the width of the footpath link prior 
to the occupation of Plot 62. The link shall thereafter be retained.
Reason: To facilitate pedestrian permeability through the site to adjoining land, 
in accordance with Policy S4 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 and advice 
contained within the NPPF (2018).

13. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed 
above ground floor level until details and representative samples of the 
external materials for the dwellings (brick, sandstone and roofing 
materials) have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Only the materials so approved shall be used in the 
development as approved.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with the character of 
the surrounding area, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014.

14. A scheme for the phased delivery of all planting, seeding or turfing 
comprised within the approved landscaping scheme shall be submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing prior to the 
construction of any dwelling above ground floor level. The development 
shall be completed in accordance with the approved delivery scheme. 
Should any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of that phase of the development die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with other similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 11



Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise 
the impact of the development in the locality.

15. A landscaping management plan including long term design 
objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for 
all landscape areas, other than small privately owned domestic gardens, 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior 
to the occupation of any dwelling house. The development shall thereafter 
be maintained at all times in accordance with the approved management 
plan.
Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of public open 
space within the residential estate.

16. No development shall commence on plots 51 - 57, 58 - 92, plots 100 - 
105, 113 - 122, or on the proposed highway beyond plot 50 unless and 
until a footpath Stopping Up Order for Public Right of Way 223003 has 
been made and confirmed by the LPA or the Secretary of State for its full 
length where it crosses the application.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not obstruct PROW 223003 
which presently crosses the site.

17. Should a Stopping Up Order for Public Right of Way 223003 (where it 
crosses the application site) be made and confirmed by the LPA or the 
Secretary of State, a temporary permissive pedestrian footpath shall be 
made available for immediate public use through the site from Bellbrigg 
Lonning in the west (adjacent to 36 Bellbrigg Lonning) to PRoW 223003 at 
the eastern boundary, until such time as the permanent permissive route 
through the site as shown on drawings PROW Strategy Rev A, received 
on the 3rd January 2019, is made available for use along its entire length. 
The temporary footpath route shall either follow the alignment of PRoW 
223003 as presently exists across the site, or the temporary route as 
shown on Management Layout Plan Rev C.
Reason: To ensure that a permissive pedestrian footpath through the site 
connecting Bellbrigg Lonning to PROW 223003 is retained and at all times.

18. Prior to the stopping up of PRoW 223003 where it crosses the site, a 
detailed Footpath Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Footpath Management Plan 
shall detail how the temporary permissive footpath through the site from 
Bellbrigg Lonning in the west (adjacent to 36 Bellbrigg Lonning) to PRoW 
223003 at the eastern boundary as specified in condition 17 will be 
managed through all phases of the construction of the development, 
including details of any temporary closures, signage and notification to 
the public. The development shall be completed only in accordance with 
the approved Footpath Management Plan.
Reason: To ensure that any closure of the temporary permissive footpath is 
minimised, that sufficient notice and publicity is provided to the public and that 
the safety of pedestrians is duly considered.

19. Prior to development commencing on the permissive footpath route 
hereby approved, details of the design of the 'motif' to be inlaid within the 
permissive footpath route shall be submitted to the Local Planning 

Page 12



Authority for approval in writing. The approved motif shall be inlaid within 
the permissive footpath route as approved and in accordance with the 
locations specified on drawing, Amended Plan SH Footway Signage Plan 
07.12.18, and shall be maintained and retained thereafter for the lifetime of 
the development.
Reason: To secure the outstanding detail for the permissive route and to ensure 
the route achieves a good standard of design.

20. Within 1 month of the construction of the permissive footpath, the 
signage shown on drawing ‘Amended Plan SH Footway Signage Plan 
07.12.18’ shall be erected as approved and shall be maintained and 
retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure that the permissive footpath through the site connecting to 
PRoW 223003 is adequately signposted.

21. Notwithstanding the approved plans, revised house types shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing for plots 
30, 57, 23, 24, 5, 6, 71 and 74, which shall include additional window 
openings to the site elevations that serve to increase natural surveillance 
of the Eastern footpath and/or internal roads. The development shall be 
completed only in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure an appropriate level of natural surveillance to public routes 
to improve security and safety across the site, in accordance with policies S4 
and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1.

22. A management plan, including management responsibilities and 
maintenance schedule for the permanent permissive footpath through the 
site shall be submitted to and approved in writing to the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the occupation of any dwelling house. The footway shall 
thereafter be maintained at all times in accordance with the approved 
management plan. 
Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of the 
permanent permissive footpath in the event that it is not formally adopted.

317. 2/2018/0496 Stopping up a section of Public Right of Way 223003, Land off 
Strawberry How Road, Cockermouth 

Representations

A written statement was read out from Ward Councillors Alan and Christine 
Smith against the application

The applicants David Hayward, Adam McNally and Graham Parker of Story 
Homes spoke in support of the application.

Application

The report recommended that the Public Path Order for the stopping up (i.e. 
permanent extinguishment) of a section of Public Right of Way (PROW) 223003 
be made, subject to the approval of reserved matters application 2/2018/0155 
and the conditions therein.

Page 13



The Planning and Building Control Manager introduced the item and advised 
members that this recommendation was to make the Order; the Council were 
not able to confirm it without the statutory publicity being undertaken. He also 
advised that, if there was one unresolved objection to the making of the Order 
following the expiration of the statutory period, the matter would be referred to 
the Secretary of State.

The Planning and Building Control Officer went on to advise that significant 
publicity had already been undertaken but this did not negate the need for the 
statutory publicity to be undertaken in the event that the Order was made.

He detailed the two tests that needed to be passed:-

Necessity

 The relevant authority cannot confirm an order unless satisfied that a 
planning permission exists for development and that it is necessary to 
authorise the stopping up (or diversion) of the public right of way by the 
order so as to enable that development to take place in accordance with 
that permission.

 Necessity should be interpreted in accordance with the plans and 
conditions of a planning permission which allow the development to be 
carried out. Thus, the necessity test is concerned with whether such an 
order is necessary for that purpose;

 A Grampian planning condition can satisfy the necessity test; and 
 The word “necessary” does not mean “essential” or “indispensable” but 

instead means “required in the circumstances of the case. “Those 
circumstances must include the relevant terms of the planning 
permission.

Following the resolution to approve the reserved matters, the specific layout 
approved effectively meant it was necessary to stop up (or divert) the public 
right of way. 
Members were also referred to the relevant reserved matters Grampian 
conditions.

The second test was the Merits Test

 The relevant authority has discretion as to whether to make the order 
and therefore may refuse to do so.

 In the exercise of that discretion the relevant authority is obliged to take 
into account any significant disadvantages or losses flowing directly from 
the stopping up order which have been raised, either for the public 
generally or for those individuals whose actionable rights of access 
would be extinguished by the order. In such a case they must also take 
into account any countervailing advantages to the public or those 
individuals, along with the planning benefits of, and the degree of 
importance attaching to, the development. They must then decide 
whether any such disadvantages or losses are of such significance or 
seriousness that they should refuse to make the order, and 

Page 14



 The confirmation procedure to re-open the merits of the planning 
authority’s decision to grant planning permission, or the degree of 
importance in planning terms to the development going ahead according 
to that decision.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Questions had been by the members to the speakers and the officers. In the 
ensuing debate there was member discussion in relation to safety, safeguarding 
and the current use of the PROW as the merits test was considered.

Having agreed that the necessity and merits tests were passed, Councillor 
Jenkinson moved to approve the application as per officer’s recommendations; 
this was seconded by Councillor Annison.

A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 9 voted in favour, 0 against, 0 
abstentions.

The motion was carried.

Resolved

Made as per officer’s recommendation. 

Conditions

1.  No development shall commence on plots 51 – 57, 58 – 92, plots 100 – 
105, 113 – 122, or on the proposed highway beyond plot 50 unless and 
until a footpath Stopping Up Order for Public Right of Way 223003 has 
been made and confirmed by the LPA or the Secretary of State for its full 
length where is crosses the application. 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not obstruct PROW 223003 
which presently crosses the site.

2. Should a Stopping Up Order for Public Right of Way 223003 (where is 
crosses the application site) be made and confirmed by the LPA or the 
Secretary of State, a temporary permissive pedestrian footpath shall be 
made available for immediate public use through the site from Bellbrigg 
Lonning in the West (adjacent to 36 Bellbrigg Lonning) to PRoW 223003 at 
the Eastern boundary, until such a time as the permanent permissive 
route through the site as shown on drawings PROW Strategy Rev A, 
received on the 3rd January 2019, is made available for use along its entire 
length. The temporary footpath route shall either follow the alignment of 
PRoW 223003 as presently exists across the site, or the temporary route 
as shown on Management Layout Plan Rev C. 
Reason: To ensure that a permissive pedestrian footpath through the site 
connecting Bellbrigg Lonning to PROW 223003 is retained and at all times.

3. Prior to the stopping up of PRoW 223003 where it crosses the site, a 
detailed Footpath Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Footpath Management Plan 

Page 15



shall detail how the temporary permissive footpath through the site from 
Bellbrigg Lonning in the west (adjacent to 36 Bellbrigg Lonning) to PRoW 
223003 at the eastern boundary as specified in condition 17 will be 
managed through all phases of the construction of the development, 
including details of any temporary closures, signage, and notification to 
the public. The development shall be completed only in accordance with 
the approved Footpath Management Plan. 
Reason: To ensure that any closure of the temporary permissive footpath is 
minimised, that sufficient notice and publicity is provided to the public and that 
the safety of pedestrians is duly considered

318. 2/2018/0511 Outline application for a new dwelling with access, Land adj 
to The Borrans, Pardshaw, Cockermouth 

The Application was withdrawn prior to this meeting of the Development Panel.

319. 2/2018/0471 - Erection of stables and associated buildings - Retrospective 
(resubmission of 2/18/0172), Land at Pennygill Road, Flimby, Maryport 

Representations

Councillor Peter Kendall spoke in support of the application

The Agent, Mr Tim Wilson spoke in support of the application

Application

The report recommended refusal and to pursue enforcement action.

The report outlined the application and detailed the main issues in the report as 
follows:

 Previous Consent

Consent was granted under application 2/2015/0599 for the erection of timber 
stable building measuring 9m x 4.4m with an eaves height of 3m, ridge height 
3.8m. The position of the building was towards the front of the field.

 Content of application sought

The development erected on site is not in line with approved plans. The current 
application seeks retrospective consent for the retention of 3 buildings sited in a 
U-shape and enclosed by concrete panel walls.

 Principle of Development

Policy DM6 of the Local Plan supports the principle of the erection of stable 
buildings, subject to the siting, scale, design and external materials respecting 
and enhancing the rural character of the area. 

 Siting, Scale and Design

Page 16



The scale and materials of the development are considered inappropriate for 
the rural location. No detailed plans had been provided and there is no 
justification for the large size of the stable.

 Amenity

The proposed disposal of the manure is acceptable.

The Senior Planning Officer presented images of the site to members, advising 
that the applicant had agreed to remove a high brick wall, but that the current 
development deviated from agreed planning permission granted under 
2/2015/0599.

The Senior Planning Officer also advised members that traffic was not an issue 
but that the concerns were in relation to design/scale and appearance.

Members were asked to compare presentation slides of the approved scheme 
with the proposed, and were advised on the absence of floor plans, with storage 
use and stable numbers also omitted.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Questions were asked of the speakers and the officers and debate followed in 
relation to the justification for the building, noting that this was a retrospective 
application.

Officers clarified that they did not oppose the principle of the development but it 
had to comply with Policy DM6.

The agent clarified that the applicant erected a larger shed than what he was 
granted permission for, however this was due to an issue with delivery where a 
larger shed was delivered than requested.

Members were concerned about the use of the main stable building and the 
surrounding outer buildings; however one member enquired as to whether the 
enlarged shed would improve animal welfare.

Councillor Miskelly moved to refuse the application and pursue enforcement 
action as per the officer’s recommendations; this was seconded by Councillor 
Cockburn.

A vote was taken on the motion for refusal, 9 voted in favour, 1 against, 0 
abstentions.

The motion was carried.

Page 17



Resolved

Refused and pursue enforcement action as per officer’s recommendation

The meeting closed at 5.35 pm

Page 18



Allerdale Borough Council
 

Delegated Planning Application

Reference No: 2/2018/0532 
Valid Date: 12/11/2018
Location: Land at

Ellerbeck Brow
Brigham
Cockermouth

Applicant: Mr David Hill
LFD Group Ltd

Drawing Numbers: Archaeological Assessment
Bat Survey Addendum
11/11/742 202 Dwelling Type B1
11/11/742 201 Dwelling Type A1
Ecological Scoping Survey
11/11/742-01 Location Plan
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy
Ground Investigation Report
Landscape and Visual Appraisal
M2119-LL-01-V3 Landscaping Layout
Phase 1 Desktop Study
Design and Access Statement
11/11/742-200 Proposed Site Plan 
11/11/742 203 Proposed Site Sections
Transport Statement
Tree and Hedge Survey Addendum

Proposed 
Development:

Residential development for 5 detached dwellings including 
associated infrastructure and landscaping

Recommendation: REFUSE

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle of the 
development 

Brigham, as a designated local centre under the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), represents a sustainable location for future housing 
growth. It is considered the minor scale of the proposal does not 
raise strategic housing development issues.

Settlement limits The 1999 Allerdale Local Plan’s saved settlement limits are out of 
date and afforded little weight. In addition the settlement limits of 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



the submission draft of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 are the 
subject of unresolved objections and afforded little weight as a 
material consideration.
The proposal is considered against the NPPF’s tilted balance.

Design and layout The layout does not integrate with the existing development nor 
does its design reflect the distinctive village characteristics.

Highways The highway authority consider the highway aspects of the 
development have been satisfactorily addressed

Residential amenity The proposed housing layout, appearance and access details 
would result in loss of amenity to the neighbouring properties of 
“Brooklands” and “Hwyns”.

Landscape The scale of the proposed development would not have a 
significant adverse impact on the landscape value of the site or 
any wider views across the Derwent valley 

Ecology Satisfactory evidence has been submitted on the ecology aspects 
of the development (which is minimised in the absence of any loss 
of trees or hedgerows.)

Overall Tilted 
Balance 

There are modest benefits arising from the provision of these 
dwellings but the adverse impacts arising from the design and 
layout and residential amenity effects, would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh these benefits. 

Proposal

The proposal seeks full planning permission for 5 detached dwellings which comprise of 
a mix of bungalows /dormer bungalows.  

The proposed estate’s access is served by a solitary entrance from Ellerbeck Brow which 
utilises and enlarges an existing, gated field access. 

Materials proposed include, dark grey smooth roof tiles, rough cast render, re-claimed 
local stone, banding finish surrounds to window openings, uPVC doors and glazing.

The application is supported by a range of reports including, archaeological, transport 
statement, tree hedge survey, geo-environmental assessment, ground investigation 
report, Flood Risk Assessment and drainage strategy, ecological survey, bat survey 
addendum, landscape and visual appraisal and Design and Access statement.  

Site

The proposal site relates to an area of agricultural land to the north east of the village of 
Brigham, sited to the rear of two existing houses on Ellerbeck Brow.

Page 20



The site itself comprises of a single field served by a vehicular access off a narrow strip 
of land onto Ellerbeck Brow.
The levels on the site rise uphill from the existing properties sited on the southern 
boundary of the site with the northern section forming part of a shallow ridge with views 
northwards towards the Derwent valley. The fall of the land is towards the eastern edge 
which is dominated by a narrow woodland corridor following the Eller Beck.

The land to the north of the site is open agricultural fields. The detached houses of Gate 
Ghyll Brookside and Hwyns, which front onto Ellerbeck Lane, form the southern 
perimeter of the site with a small young plantation strip of land inside its boundary. 

There is a grade ll listed cattle pound walled structure on the southern side of Ellerbeck 
Brow approx. 37m to the south west of the site.

Relevant Planning History

1977/0732 – Outline application for residential development, refused. 

The application was refused by the Local Planning Authority because the application was 
considered to be:-

1. Contrary to the Interim Housing Policy in place at the time, which only allowed for 
infill housing development.

2. Premature in relation to the formulation of a settlement hierarchy.

1987/0885 – Outline application for residential development of approx. 25 units. Refused. 
This refusal decision was subsequently appealed and the appeal was dismissed.  The 
appeal decision is summarised as follows:

 The first issue related to whether the District had an adequate 5 year land supply 
at the time. The Inspector concluded that, based on the information provided by 
the parties, there was an adequate supply.

 If Brigham is to be considered as a satisfactory development overspill from 
Cockermouth, this should be considered through the public participation process 
of the Allerdale Local Plan.

 Emerging South Allerdale District Plan states that further large scale development 
in the village is not considered acceptable. The Plan designates the Derwent 
Valley as a “visually sensitive area” with a presumption against developments 
which are likely to be detrimental to the intrinsic quality of the local landscape. 

 Special arrangements would have to be made to deal with effluent.
 In the Inspector’s view, the size of the project is not in keeping with the existing 

character of the settlement and it would not enhance the village form since it 
would extend development into the attractive open countryside beyond the 
confines of the existing village. 

 In the Inspector’s view, the proposal would have a serious adverse impact on the 
landscape. The site is prominent when viewed from the approach from the 

Page 21



Cockermouth to Brigham road. Whilst it would not be so prominent from the north, 
it would be seriously detrimental to the relationship between the landscape and 
the edge of the village. 

 Class 3 agricultural land should not be developed except in compelling 
circumstances. 

 Whilst the development is in outline, the Inspector has reservations as to how the 
proposed development could satisfactorily relate to the traditional buildings 
fronting Ellerbeck Brow.  

 Concludes that the proposal would be contrary to the Council’s settlement policy 
for Brigham and that the proposal would be unacceptably detrimental to the 
character and landscape of the village. 

 If the dwarf wall and hedge to No. 2 High Brigham were removed, it would be 
possible to achieve a satisfactory standard of visibility to the Cumbria County 
Highways standards. 

 In the Inspector’s opinion, a scheme based on only one access from Ellerbeck 
Brow would not be very satisfactory since the length of the cul-de sac leading to 
the northern end of the site would be some 220-230m. However, this point has not 
been raised by the Council. 

SCR/2012/0022 – Screening opinion determined that the proposal for residential 
development was not EIA development 16th May 2012. 

2/2012/0660 -_ Residential development for 24 affordable dwellings and 10 open market 
dwellings including associated infrastructure. Application refused by Allerdale on grounds 
of :

1. The Local Planning Authority consider the proposed development would increase 
traffic and pedestrian movements within the village's central highway network 
which lack satisfactory pavement facilities, thus increasing pedestrian and 
vehicular conflict to the detriment of highway safety.

2. The Local Planning Authority consider the proposal would constitute prominent, 
non-essential and unsustainable housing development outside the designated 
settlement limits, extending into an attractive area of open countryside to the 
detriment of the visual amenity and landscape quality of the site and its 
surroundings contrary to Policy EN19 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Saved).

3. The Local Planning Authority consider the proposal, by virtue of its site, layout, 
design, scale of development and lack of permeability is not sympathetic and 
poorly related with the built form, layout and village character and distinctiveness 
of Brigham. The proposed development is therefore contrary to Policy HS8 of the 
First Alterations to the Allerdale Local Plan (Saved).

4. The proposed development would result in the detrimental and permanent loss of 
a section of a hedgerow which presently acts as an important wildlife corridor for 
the movement of red squirrels through the site. The loss of this section of 
hedgerow would therefore have an adverse impact on an animal species 
protected by law contrary to Policy EN32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Saved).

5. Insufficient evidence has been submitted within the application to demonstrate that 
the proposed development would not result in the detrimental loss of the Grade 3a 
agricultural land (Agricultural land classification) contrary to Policy EN17 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Saved).

6. The Local Planning Authority consider the proposed single estate junction and its 

Page 22



associated modifications onto Ellerbeck Brow lacks satisfactory visibility splays 
and adversely affects the access driveways of other properties in the locality of the 
site to the detriment of highway safety contrary to Policy HS9 of the First 
Alterations to the Allerdale Local Plan (Saved). 

An Appeal (APP/G0908/A/13/2193690) against the refusal decision was dismised but not 
on all of the grounds specified in the refusal decision.

A later resubmission residential application 2/2014/0358 for 10 dwellings including 2 
affordable dweelings and associated infrastructure was withdrawn.

Representations
Brigham Parish Council 

Objects to the proposal on the following grounds:

 We have already had 3 Government Appeals rejected on this Greenfield site and 
this application will affect the character of the area as would all of the previous 
ones. 

 This site is not shown in the Local Plan (2) site allocations document. 
 Brigham has met its building demand numbers until 2027; there is a case for 

rejecting this proposed development (as at School Brow) on Local Plan 
prematurity grounds. 

 The effect on potentially neighbouring properties is an unacceptable loss of 
privacy and amenity. 

 There is local concern over the manipulated calculations used for the Splay; it is 
risking inputting a dangerous junction on a steep hill where the drawings do not 
seem to represent the actual layout of adjoining features such as the pumping 
station and garage. We will look closely at Highway Authority’s assessment when 
it arrives and we’d welcome a chance to discuss that with ABC and them. 

 It’s back building – risking forming yet another estate on a site which is land locked 
and unconnected with the rest of the community. 

 This application clearly shows a ‘road to nowhere’ – it’s a Trojan Horse application 
and ‘chunking’ down a long-term aim that would damage the area by creating an 
estate unrelated to the rest of the settlement is an unacceptable approach.

 Brigham is a small village which no longer has a bus routed through the main 
residential area of the village and we have lost our only shop facility since the 
applicant’s last attempt to build here. Brigham offers no services to its residents 
and, as discussed last time with the Government Inspector, Susan Holland (at the 
examination of the Local Plan) this could now change the village status back from 
LSC to a Rural Village. 

 The idea of bringing more cars to a road network without pavements in much of 
the village and the connecting roads towards Cockermouth is not sustainable. 

 Picking up the points from some of our parishioners - there is nothing beneficial in 
this Greenfield, wildlife displacing and unwanted, unsustainable application for the 
village. Large houses outside the settlement limit are not needed, character-
damaging and not least because no one wants a junction with safety concerns 

Page 23



adding to the road network on the Brow. Allerdale BC should reject it. 

Cumbria County Council – Highways Authority/Lead local flood authority 

Consider the submitted evidence is acceptable. No objection subject to highway 
conditions (including visibility splays 49m x2.4m x 49m.)

ABC Environmental Health 

No objections.  

United Utilities 

No objection subject to conditions including surface water drainage into the Ellerbeck

Environment Agency 

No objection to the proposed development, but highlight their own permitting regime due 
to the site being within 8m of the banks of the mains river (Dubbs Gutter)

Cumbria County Council - Archaeologist 

No objections or comments 

Public Representations

82 letters of objection have been received. The grounds of objection are summarised as 
follows:

 Is Brigham, through the loss of its services, still a local service centre?
 The proposed road suggests further expansion – “road to nowhere” result in scope 

for a bigger development.
 Outside the development limits for Brigham.
 Not an identified in the local plan (part 2).
 The local plan commitments on buildings has been met until 2027.
 There is no longer a shop, post office or bus service through High Brigham.
 No local engagement.
 Houses result in no benefit to the village. 
 Can the school cater for additional children?
 Village needs more social rather than private homes up to 2027.
 Alternative available empty homes. 
 Proposal is not in the character of the neighbourhood.
 Proposal does not address the needs of the community. 
 Large estate housing available at the Fitz Cockermouth within a mile of the site.
 Poor visibility of the access junction which will increase traffic –unsafe highway 

hazard (especially with low sun) - increased when the road is used as a diversion 
for works on the A66. 

 On street parking previously observed by Inspector on the last appeal.

Page 24



 Governments’ Manual for Streets publication suggests the need for 57m rather 
than 49m visibility splays. 

 Submitted speed survey’s 85th centile omits the two busiest days. 
 Adverse impact of construction traffic.  
 Village has poor pavements with existing residents having to walk on the road to 

access village amenities including the school.
 Visibility splays include land not in the applicant’s control.
 Loss of a greenfield site.
 The landscaping would not provide an effective screen.
 Urbanisation of a meadow.
 Flooding history of Ellerbeck.
 Hardstanding areas will increase run off into the watercourse.
 Site is close to existing quarry which has consent for additional works. 
 Monetary contribution from the developer would not resolve the means to 

manoeuvre at the site on a dangerous icy road in winter. 
 Overbearing impact of the wall/access on the amenity of the neighbouring 

property.
 Loss of privacy and amenity. 
 Lights from vehicles using the access would shine into existing properties.
 Potential encroachment on to an outfall and soakaway from a neighbouring 

property’s septic tank.
 Possible noise/smell disturbance from the proposed pumping station and question 

its reliability. 
 Question why this reduced number of houses is now economic as the 34 houses 

was marginal in 2012.
 Oppose any disruption to existing sewage infrastructure.
 The field restricts design options.
 Proposal is overbearing and out of scale with the village.
 No details of the garage site at the entrance. 
 Inaccuracies on the plans/documents.
 No details on the pumping station on the opposite side of the entrance. 
 Bat survey does not show full bat impact with a roost (6 bats) in the neighbouring 

““Gate Ghyll” property.
 No evidence of addressing Japanese knotweed identified in the submission.
 Open space document suggests important species can be found on or near the 

site including hedgehogs, otters, red squirrels, buzzards and UKBAP priority 
species of moths. 

One comment letter of “neither” was received. 

Duties 

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.

Page 25



Development plan 

Allerdale Local Plan 1999 Saved Settlement limits

Site is beyond settlement limits.

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014

Policy S1 – presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2- sustainable development principles
Policy S3 – Spatial strategy and growth
Policy S4 - Design Principles 
Policy S5- Development principles 
Policy S7- A mixed and balanced housing market
Policy S8-Affordable housing
Policy S22- Transport principles 
Policy S26 -Community and Rural Services
Policy S27 -Heritage assets
Policy S29- Flood risk and surface water drainage 
Policy S32 -Safeguarding amenity 
Policy S33 -Landscape
Policy S35 -Protecting and enhancing Biodiversity and geodiversity
DM14-Standards of good design 
DM16 -Sequential test for previously developed land 
DM17 -Trees , hedgrows and Woodland.

Other material considerations 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2)

The site is not allocated and it is beyond the defined settlement boundaries. The 
following policies are considered relevant:-

Policy SA2 Settlement Boundaries 
Policy SA5 Housing standards
Policy SA33 Broadband 

The site was not included in the preferred options paper; the site was discounted on the 
grounds of 

 ‘Site has previous refusals for residential development (2/1987/0885, 2/2012/0660) 
Refused due to poor relationship with established settlement pattern, impact on amenity 
of adjacent properties and uncertainty as to whether required visibility splays could be 
secured.’

In response, consultation representations were received challenging the division of 
growth across the local service centre settlement tier suggesting Brigham should get 
more and Ellerbeck would appear to be a logical extension.

Page 26



The site remains excluded in the pre submission draft for Examination which is supported 
by Brigham Parish Council. No further comments were received from the promoter of the 
application site, but the distribution of growth in this tier remains challenged on another 
separate housing site within Brigham.

National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)

Policy weighting

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the settlement limits 
from the 1999 Plan and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 policies have 
primacy in decision making.

A material consideration is the provisions of the NPPF (2019).  

The NPPF 2018 sets out, under paragraph 11 that Plans and decisions should apply a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development and for decision-taking this means: 

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay; or 
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless: 

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole. 

In this context, a further material consideration is the appeal decision for land at Little 
Broughton (PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948) which specifically addressed the 
weighting afforded to development plan policies in the context of paragraphs 215 and 14 
of the 2012 1st Edition NPPF.
In the decision for this appeal the inspector commented that we are now within the 
medium term of the 2014 Local Plan’s delivery period. Within this time it was expected 
that new allocations, within part 2 of the Local Plan and beyond the 1999 settlement 
limits, would come forward for delivery to meet the planned housing delivery trajectories. 
However, the allocations have only been recently submitted for examination, are largely 
the subject of unresolved objections and few have come forward as delivered sites. As 
such other housing sites, including on land outside of the 1999 settlement limits, need to 
come forward to meet the 2014 Part 1 Local Plan’s medium terms growth objectives. 

Although the Inspector’s decision predated the publication of the 2018 NPPF, 
comparisons of paragraph 14 of the 2012 version and paragraph 11 of this latest 

Page 27



publication reveal that it is only rational to still afford significant weight to the decision as 
a material consideration. 

Consequently, for these reasons, the settlement limits from the 1999 Local Plan are out 
of date as are policies S3 and S5 of the 2014 Part 1 Local Plan to the extent where they 
refer to the 1999 settlement limits and the housing numbers for each settlement. As such 
little weight is afforded to the settlement limits and these parts of policies S3 and S5. The 
provisions of paragraph 11 of the NPPF 2018 are therefore engaged and the “tilted 
balance” applied subject to there being reason for refusal based on the NPPF’s policies 
for protected areas or assets. As will be explained in the assessment below, the only 
such protected area or asset that could have been the basis for a reason for refusal is the 
cattle pound. However, the impact is considered such that a reason for refusal cannot be 
substantiated. As a result the titled balance applies; the principle should only be resisted 
if any adverse impacts would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole

However, this does not mean to say that other Local Plan Part 1 policies are out of date 
and should not be afforded substantial weight where they are consistent with the 
provisions of the NPPF 2018. In this instance, it is assessed that the settlement hierarchy 
within policy S3 can be afforded substantial weight given its consistency with the 
sustainability principles of the NPPF 2018 as can the criteria a) to f) of policy S5. Other 
polices within the Part 1 Local Plan also maintain their full weight.

Paragraph 48 of the NPPF advises that weight can be afforded to emerging plans, that 
weight dependent on the stage of preparation, the extent of unresolved objections and 
consistency with the provisions of the Framework. 
The settlement limits of the submission draft of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 are the 
subject of unresolved objections and afforded little weight as a material consideration.

Assessment

Principle of the development 

Officers are aware there has been significant changes to the planning policy context 
since the date of the last appeal (Sept 2013) not least the application of the tilted 
balance.

Brigham includes a school, village hall, church, business units, club facilities and public 
transport (at Low Brigham). It is noted that the shop has closed but, essentially, the 
settlement provides a sustainable range of services and facilities. As a Local Service 
Centre under the adopted settlement hierarchy of Policy S3, Brigham with the other 
centres in this tier, is expected to deliver up to 20% of the Council housing supply up to 
2029 (approximately 1094 dwellings).
The previous refusal did include grounds relating to the development constituting non-
essential development outside the villages settlement limit. However, it has already been 
detailed in the previous section of this report that the settlement limit is afforded little 
weight. The site is in a sustainable location with regards to proximity to the services and 
facilities provided by the village. 

Page 28



It is also considered to be of an appropriate scale in terms of its modest quantum in 
relation to the overall size of the village and the projected growth. This takes into account 
existing commitments. Indeed, despite the implementation of other approved estate 
developments in the village, for examples the Genesis and Washington Homes 
developments, it is considered that the magnitude of the scale of the development under 
consideration is minor and notably smaller than the earlier dismissed appeal and does 
not undermine the Council’s adopted housing strategy detailed in the Part 1 Local Plan. 

There are also objections on the grounds of prematurity, referencing the dismissed 
appeal APP/G0908/A/14/2222097 at School Brow Brigham for 16 dwellings.

Para 50 of the NPPF advises “Refusal of planning permission on grounds of prematurity 
will seldom be justified where a draft plan has yet to be submitted for examination; or – in 
the case of a neighbourhood plan – before the end of the local planning authority 
publicity period on the draft plan. Where planning permission is refused on grounds of 
prematurity, the local planning authority will need to indicate clearly how granting 
permission for the development concerned would prejudice the outcome of the plan-
making process.” 

The prematurity grounds for School Brow was the uncertainty of distribution of housing 
amongst the tier of local centres within the Local Plan. With Part 1 adopted and the need 
to bring housing forward to maintain the trajectory of supply, this is not a consideration at 
this time. It would therefore be unreasonable to refuse the application on the grounds of 
prematurity.

The smaller scale of the current development proposal also influences the absence of the 
need for any education or public open space requirements for the development as its 
smaller scale does not trigger the respective thresholds in the Local Plan.

As such there is a benefit in providing the proposed housing, although the minor nature 
of the proposal means that the benefit accrued is modest in scale if not small. 

Design, settlement character and visual amenity

Policies S4, S5 and DM14 all refer to the need to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
design which reflects its locality. There is consistency with the 2019 NPPF which 
considers that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from 
good planning and should contribute positively to making places better for people. 

Paragraph 127 advises that:-  

“Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments: 

a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short 
term but over the lifetime of the development; 

b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping; 

c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 

Page 29



environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities); 

d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, 
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive 
places to live, work and visit; “

This is further elaborated under para 130 of the NPPF in that 

“Permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the 
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it 
functions, taking into account any local design standards or style guides in plans or 
supplementary planning documents. “

Officers acknowledge there were significant negative qualities in the previous refused 
development which reduced its functionality and contribution to the quality of the area 
including its lack of frontage, permeability and the long elongated meandering form of the 
layout. It did not adopt a design, form and layout that would respond to the character and 
local distinctiveness of Brigham; it was constrained by the physical characteristics of the 
site resulting in it lacking a sense of place. It was acknowledged in the earlier proposal 
that, although the housing would be constructed to a good standard, within an attractive 
setting, it would create a further ‘housing estate’ arrangement, on the edge of Brigham. 

The Inspector attached significant weight to the character and appearance of Brigham’s 
existing settlement. In Para 14 of the decision he stated:- 

“However, in more detailed terms, the proposed layout does not seem to draw upon any 
pattern or form of development found elsewhere in the village. ALP Policy HS8 sets out a 
number of criteria for new development including consideration of (amongst other 
matters) building lines, form and massing and spaces between buildings. Whilst I 
acknowledge that there is a considerable variety in the type of housing at present in the 
village. In this south-eastern part the housing is generally larger-scale and spaced apart.
Closer to the village centre, the development is at a higher density, with terraces of 
relatively small houses or cottages, set close to the road.”

In paragraphs 15 to 17 he continued:-

“The proposed scheme has houses laid out at varying distances set back from the 
untypically serpentine estate road. Although there would seemingly be generous space 
between the buildings, many of the back gardens would be notably short, which would 
appear unusually cramped in this edge of village context. The street scene would be 
fragmented by numerous parking bays, failing to create an integrated townscape, which 
would neither relate to the adjacent development, nor to the other development on the 
appeal site. The group at the western end of the site would have a particularly poor visual 
presence, with parking bays and back garden fences (for plots 28 and 29) dominating the 
end of the cul-de-sac….Furthermore, with only a single point of access, the development 
would be poorly connected to the rest of the village, particularly for pedestrians. Those 
living at the western end of the scheme (that is, mainly the smaller affordable housing 
units) would have a walk of 200 metres (m) or more just to get to Ellerbeck Brow, at a 
point on the scheme which would be furthest from the centre of the village and its 

Page 30



facilities, and the primary school at the far end of the village……..Therefore, although the 
proposed expansion on the rural edge of the village would not be unacceptable in broad 
landscape terms, the detailed design of the scheme would not relate well to the 
established urban form of the village, and it would appear incongruous and isolated. 
Taking all of these points into consideration, the proposed scheme would not meet the 
requirements for good design set out in ALP Policy HS8.”

It is fully acknowledged that this new application is materially different to that dismissed 
at appeal; it is a significantly smaller site and a different layout. 

As a detailed application for five dwellings it includes the layout, appearance, scale, 
means of access and landscaping. The dwellinghouses are laid out in a T-shape fashion 
utilising two bungalow house types one of which is a dormer house style. The bungalows 
would be finished with dark grey slate roofs and rendered walls.

The applicant’s recent supporting statement refers to site layout. He considers officers 
have misinterpreted the Inspector’s comments to the 2012 scheme, in particular:-
 
 The development of the site (meaning the much larger site subject to the appeal) was 

considered not to result in any adverse impact.

 Expansion on the rural edge of the village could be acceptable.

 The detailed design scheme subject to the appeal did not relate well to the 
established urban form of the village and would appear incongruous and isolated.

 The appellant contests the revised scheme is significantly different to the former 
scheme which was at a larger scale for 34 units.

 The proposal excludes the Serpentine estate road, cramped rear gardens, numerous 
parking bays and poor visual presence at the western end of the site.

 The applicant therefore considered the issues raised in the appeal have been 
addressed.

 The options suggested by officers of exploring an alternative agricultural courtyard 
complex or organic design are seen as personal preferences and not reflective of the 
actual settlement characteristics in the locality. the applicant contests it is an 
acceptable form of development with its combined hard and soft landscaping creating 
a sense of place and interact with the existing settlement.

Policy S5 of the Allerdale Local plan emphasises within its design criteria that 
“development should be of a scale and design which will not detract from the character of 
the settlement”. 

The pursuit of a satisfactory standard of design is also emphasised under policy DM14 
which refers to the subject headings of; housing density, design layout of new 
development and landscaping within development.
Officers respect that the scale of the development is substantially different to that of the 
earlier scheme through both the reduction of the scale of the site itself and its 
consequential reduction in density.

Page 31



There are some impacts of the earlier scheme, at the western end of the former site, with 
their potential siting and amenity constraints, which are no longer applicable. Similarly the 
removal of the “serpentine “estate’s cul-de- sac spine road similarly overcomes this 
former identified design constraint with was considered not to reflect the distinctive 
settlement form of the village.

However, whilst the omission of these details are welcomed, officers still consider there 
remain significant design concerns relating to the submitted scheme.
Although, accepting the Inspector rejected any harm to landscape quality, this revised 
scheme has introduced new concerns and a lack of clear impact from public receptors 
does not result in the ability to allow substandard design which is not reflective of the 
character of the area. Indeed, policy DM14 of the Local Plan Part 1 endeavours to deliver 
development that creates neighbourhoods and areas with a sense of place, that are well 
integrated and compatible with existing development.
Its design criteria includes: reinforce and respect existing settlement pattern, respond 
positively to the distinctive qualities of the location and integrate with the characteristics 
of the site, incorporate green infrastructure assets, inclusion open and amenity space, 
suitable highway facilities and secure by design initiatives.

Brigham has over time has evolved and expanded. Its historic traditional nucleus within 
High Brigham is sited to the west of the appeal site with a high density of traditional 
terraced dwellinghouses. The village has expanded over the decades with more modern 
semi-detached / dwellings at a lower density along its highway corridors. This includes 
some 20th estate development including High Rigg, Lawson Garth and The Hill.
More recently additional modern estates have been approved and are under construction 
at Hotchberry Road and Kirkcross (Low Brigham).

Characteristics of this site is that it is on the edge of the line of traditional properties on 
the northern side of High Brigham’s spinal highway and the modern detached 
dwellinghouses traversing down the slope of Ellerbeck Brow. Officers consider the 
current layout, with its narrow access corridor, does not integrate or interact with the 
existing settlement, but constitutes a detached cluster of detached properties set back 
behind the frontage properties on Ellerbeck Brow. The lack of connection is reinforced 
with the expansion of the scale of the development projecting beyond the rear curtilage 
boundary of “Gate Ghyll. Whilst the applicant’s former appeal scheme contested that it 
was rounding off the edge of the village, the scale of this smaller scheme alternatively 
introduces a projecting spur extending beyond established settlement pattern features.
The layout of the dwellinghouses reinforces this in a modern, tight, regimented and rigid 
cul de sac layout which exacerbates its lack of relationship to the village. Officers are 
unaware of any comparative form of layout elsewhere in the village.

Although officers do not oppose the concept of bungalow house types and modern 
design per se, elements of the scheme run against the contour resulting in substantial 
steps in the layout. The applicant has sought to minimise these by cutting into the hillside 
but, in doing so, it only serves to reinforce the layout’s inability to integrate into the 
characteristics of the site.

Another aspect of the proposal is the scale of the proposed access. As a development 
comprising of only 5 dwellinghouses the development requires a standard of driveway 
which reflects the “shared private access and courtyard” as specified in the Cumbria 

Page 32



County’s design scheme. However, the proposed double car width access road corridor 
would introduce a modern, very suburban, housing estate feature into this section of the 
village which appears excessive and disproportionate to the scale of the development 
proposed. As it connects to the existing lane, this inappropriate feature is prominent with 
the villagescape and contrary to its prevailing character. 

The importance of design has been reflected in other recent appeals within the rural 
settlements in the locality within the Borough which have attached significant weight to 
the merits of the existing village character. These include ;

Appeal (APP/G0908/A/13/2198462) outline 8 dwelling houses, Shawbank Brow, Dean, 
Workington, Cumbria. 

“It is proposed to construct eight dwellings in a cul de sac, which would extend across the 
rear of five dwellings in an existing cul de sac between the appeal site and Shawbank 
Brow. This would introduce a pattern of development unlike any other in the village, 
effectively creating a “double-row” of houses. Whilst the appellant, in support of his case, 
considers that there would be little impact on the area, I find that the proposal would lead 
to an uncharacteristic urbanising effect, of a scale and pattern that would be out of 
keeping with the village’s rural character. Consequently, the proposed development 
would appear incongruous, to the detriment of those attributes which make a positive 
contribution to the established character of the area.”

The impact of the design and layout on village character is considered to result in 
significant harm. 

Landscape

Policy S33 of the Allerdale Local Plan(Part 1) outlines the planning policy considerations 
relating to landscape seeking that its character and local distinctiveness should be 
protected, conserved and, where possible, enhanced.

The applicant has submitted a landscape and visual appraisal supporting document. In 
addition a tree and hedge survey report acting as an addendum to the earlier scheme 
has also been submitted which confirms no trees or hedges are to be removed as part of 
the revised scheme a range of tree protection mitigation measures are recommended. It 
is accepted that there will be a slight incursion into the root protection area of two existing 
trees but this is unlikely to be detrimental to the long term health of the trees. 

In considering the site and surroundings, the village of Brigham sits within the open 
countryside, in a relatively elevated location on the southern side of the Derwent valley. 
The village has been extended by more modern housing estates to the east and west. 
The landscape is formed by the Derwent Valley with villages visible along the A595 that 
follows the valley floor at this point, including, Brigham and the Broughtons. 
The impact on landscape quality represented one of the Council’s grounds of refusal on 
the earlier application 

In determining the previous appeal, the inspector commented that:-

“Brigham village occupies an elevated position in this undulating rural landscape. 

Page 33



Development here is clearly seen against the skyline in approaches from the east along 
Ellerbeck Brow. The appeal site is part of this hilltop setting, with views out to the east 
and the north. New housing here would be seen as an expansion of built development 
into the countryside….However, I saw at my site inspection that a characteristic of this 
local landscape is that villages are not hidden, buildings are clearly seen over some 
distance either by virtue of their prominent location or the pale colours used for the walls, 
or both…….Although new housing on the appeal site would be seen, it would be a 
relatively small expansion of the present built up area, rather than an entirely new 
incursion. That is, it would be very much in keeping with the siting and setting of the 
village as it is at present. Furthermore, retaining the hedgerow across the northern 
boundary of the site would be a partial screen to the built development when viewed from 
the Papcastle direction. Samson’s Wood and the small group of trees or copse adjacent 
to Ellerbeck Brow as it crosses the beck would interrupt a clear view of houses on the 
site when approaching from the direction of Cockermouth. In time, landscape planting as 
part of the appeal scheme could further screen or soften some of the landscape impact.
That is, in broad landscape terms I do not consider that the scheme would appear 
incongruous and it would not result in unacceptable harm to the rural character of the 
wider area.”

Therefore, despite the earlier appeal in 1988 being dismissed by the Planning 
Inspectorate largely on grounds relating to landscape and visual impact (especially its 
prominence in the view from the approach from the Cockermouth to Brigham road), the 
later appeal did not attach significant weight to this aspect of the development and it was 
not dismissed on those grounds. 

The current scheme, with its reduced scale and density and the adoption of bungalow 
house types further reduces the impact of the development on the wider landscape.
Whilst officers recognise that some aspects of the northern side of the site, especially the 
bungalows, occupy a lower section of the site that run against the contour, any inward 
looking views across the Derwent valley would have the backdrop of the built form of the 
existing village.
Furthermore the current scheme does not require the removal of any trees and 
hedgerows, with an established wooded buffer strip along the Ellerbeck watercourse 
which would soften any visual impact in the approach to the village from the east.

Officers do not dispute the site is greenfield, nor countryside and that the development 
would not change the visual appearance of the distinctive landscape character of the site.
However, the extent of the degree of harm to the wider landscape is low.

Loss of agricultural land 

The underlying clay noted in the supporting information suggests that Grade 3 (a) is 
unlikely. In this instance, the loss of some Grade 3(b) land is not considered to render the 
proposal unsustainable.

Residential amenity/ impact on neighbouring properties 

The criteria of Policy S4, S5 DM14 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) seek to 

Page 34



safeguard residential amenity.

The relationship of the site to neighbours was a key feature in the earlier appeal decision, 
specifically the close proximity of the site and its dwellings to the existing neighbouring 
properties with the Inspector noting:- 

“Many of the occupiers of houses adjacent to the appeal site have expressed concern 
that their properties would be overlooked or that the new houses would obscure their 
view over the open countryside. It is a well-established principle that nobody has a right 
to a view over another person’s property.
Whilst the loss of a presently open outlook from a property may be a matter for regret, 
this is not a legitimate planning concern. What would be of concern is an interference 
with the reasonable expectation of the quiet enjoyment of one’s house in terms of 
privacy, overlooking and overbearing visual impact.”

In specific reference to the remaining properties he observed.

“I note that the proposed scheme sets new buildings no closer than 21 m from present 
housing – notably ‘Brookside’ and ‘Hwyns’. In my experience, this is the minimum 
separation to ensure adequate privacy between neighbouring houses. Having said that, it 
would appear unusually close in the more spacious context of this end of the village, 
which adds to my concerns over the compatibility of the overall design with the present 
village form. Of particular concern is the impact of the scheme on some individual 
properties. The back garden of ‘Brookside’ and ‘Hwyns’ are notably short and, although 
screening to ensure privacy could be provided in the form of a hedge or fence, this would 
appear uncomfortably overbearing in the outlook from the living rooms at the back of 
these properties, and create a very poor and enclosed area of garden space with a low 
amenity value, particularly for ‘Brookside’. The amenity value would be diminished further 
by the shortness of the garden, which would make it difficult to keep a respectable 
distance away from whatever activities may take place at the end of the neighbouring 
garden for the bungalow on plot 1. Similar concerns apply for the occupants of No.42 
High Brigham. Moreover, there is a conservatory / dining area for ‘Brookside’ on the side 
adjacent to the proposed access. This would have windows within 3 m of the access 
road. With the access road this close this would result in considerable disturbance to 
those using this room both visually and in terms of the noise of passing traffic and 
pedestrians. It is proposed to provide a 1.2 m wall along this boundary, but this would not 
be high enough to give the privacy those using the room should expect, and a higher wall 
would have all the same unacceptably enclosing effects of a screen across the back of 
the property. Drawing these points together, whilst I do not accept that a general loss of a 
view over open farmland is a relevant objection in planning terms, the proposed 
development would bring development unacceptably close to ‘Hwyns’ and ‘Brookside’, 
harming the living conditions of the occupants of those properties.”

The revised proposal has significantly altered from its predecessor in its significant 
reduction in size with the omission of the section of the site from the rear of the properties 
on High Brigham. This in turn reduces the number of existing properties directly 
bordering onto the site.

Furthermore the layout of the retained section of the site has been redesigned with three 

Page 35



of the detached properties being sited in a row along the contour on a North -South 
alignment and the remaining two sited at the northern elevated edge of the field. Section 
plans have been provided to demonstrate the extent of any impact on the three 
remaining neighbouring properties of Gate Ghyll, Brookside and Hwyns. The access to 
the estate remains in the same location alongside Brookside, which would also act as the 
field access to the remaining field omitted from the resubmission.

The applicant’s supporting statement refers to the relationship of the access road to 
Brookside. The applicant contests circumstances have changed since 2013 with a new 
stone wall (March-June 2014) which was not considered in the appeal. The wall is 1.8m 
and benefits from being “permitted development” as a minor operation. An additional 
fence also limits impact on Gate Ghyll.

The impact of the current revised scheme on each of these individual properties can be 
examined individually. 

 Brookside – This is a modern detached bungalow fronting onto Ellerbeck Brow 
adjacent to the entrance to the site that has been extended with conservatories to 
the side and rear elevations. In the officer’s opinion this represents one of the 
properties most directly affected by the proposed works.

The narrow side elevation conservatory is sited below the field level with an 
existing, approximately 1.3 m high, retaining wall which is higher (1.8m) in the 
neighbouring residential garden due to the step in the land.

The nearest bungalow proposed to the rear of this property is at an oblique angle, 
with a side elevation facing the rear of Brookside which contains a kitchen window. 
However as a result of its separation distance and the maintenance of an open 
outlook from the rear elevation windows, the proposal bungalow building is not 
considered to result in a significant loss of amenity. 

However there is a potential source of disturbance arising from the juxtaposition 
with the proposal’s access road which traverses along the narrow field corridor 
down the side of the property (as highlighted in the Inspector’s comments). The 
Inspector made specific reference to this in the appeal decision as an 
unacceptable aspect of the development due to the potential harm to residential 
amenity arising as a result of its access causing noise/disturbance. It is important 
to note that the Inspector did not make any reference that this matter could be 
resolved by a planning condition.

The previous appeal scheme proposed a 1.2m high boundary wall along the 
length of this neighbour’s garden as mitigation for noise/car lights and overlooking 
from pedestrians using the proposed new footpath to the northern side of the 
proposed access. 

Although accepting that the level of noise /traffic disturbance from the revised 
current scheme would be lessened by virtue of the fewer car trips generated by 
the smaller scale of the resubmission, the wall now built is only 100mm higher 

Page 36



than that previously proposed. As a result, even with the lower trips rates arising 
from this reduced proposal, the impact is still considered to be unacceptable. 

 Hwyns - The proposal extends to the rear of this detached property fronting 
Ellerbeck Brow. The nearest proposed detached dwelling’s gable is located 
approximately 11.5m distance from the boundary. The inspector made specific 
reference to Hwyns highlighting its narrow rear depth of its garden and wide range 
of window openings facing onto the site. 

In the officer’s opinion the end bungalow gable and its associated kitchen window 
would have a greater impact on this dwelling than Brookside and, would despite its 
reconfigured layout, not overcome the specific concerns outlined by the Inspector. 
There would be an unacceptable level of overlooking and reduction in privacy 
currently enjoyed by the occupiers of Hwyns. 

 Gate Ghyll – This is a detached property, set back within its own grounds from 
Ellerbeck Brow. The proposed housing borders its eastern boundary. The 
arrangement of the bungalows results in a substantial separation distance from 
this property. It is therefore considered that, irrespective of the cut and fill and 
change of levels, the applicant’s cross section plans have demonstrated no 
significant loss of amenity to this property. 

No other properties are anticipated to experience any significant loss of amenity from the 
proposed development.

Highways 

Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Part 1 includes, within its generic transport criteria, that 
new development will be accessed safely. The requirements for satisfactory means of 
access are also stipulated in the design criteria of Policies S4 and S5 and reflective of 
and consistent with paragraph 109 of the NPPF. 

Access to the site is via a single vehicular access off the northern side of Ellerbeck Lane 
utilising an existing field access onto a narrow strip of land which serves the field.

The application has been accompanied by a Transport Statement and Road Safety Audit, 
including a speed survey for Ellerbeck Brow. The proposed access is sited within the 
settlement’s existing 30mph speed limits. The proposed access incorporates visibility 
splays of 2.4m x 49m in both directions.

The merits of this access were examined in detail by the Inspector as part of the former 
appeal as it represented one of the Council’s reasons for refusal. The Inspector referred 
to current national guidance specified in the Manual for Streets 3(MFS). He concluded 
that: 

“The guidance in MfS is that, having regard to the measured speed of passing traffic, the 
access should provide clear visibility in each direction of 49 m at a point 2.4 m back from 
the edge of the carriageway. Evidence produced in support of the application 
demonstrated that this requirement can be met, with minor adjustments to the alignment 

Page 37



and width of the carriageway. The design was acceptable to the local highway authority. 
Nevertheless, at my site visit I saw that parked cars interfered with the visibility to either 
site of the proposed access. No clear or definite proposals have been put forward to 
demonstrate how this potential obstruction to visibility could be addressed before 
development commences.”

However, there is a degree of confusion in relation to these comments and those that 
followed. He noted that a permission could, in principle, be the subject of a “Grampian” 
style of condition requiring the access visibility splays to be secured prior to the access 
first being brought into use. However, his comments about there being “no certainty” that 
the terms of a Grampian condition could be met if the visibility relied “on land outside the 
ownership or control of the applicant” suggests it was not the parking of cars that was 
being referred to. This is because, in the officer’s opinion, we note that the applicant has 
demonstrated to the Highway Authority that the securing of the visibility splays within the 
applicant’s land and the public highway can be achieved. As with the Maryport 
application (2/2018/0372) on this same agenda, the provision of the splay can be 
achieved with parking restrictions if parking within the splay was considered to be an 
issue. Furthermore, although cars were parked within the splay during the inspector’s 
visit, this, in the officer’s experience from a number of visits, is not the norm. Indeed, 
given the unrestricted nature of on-road parking within the locality and the existence of 
plentiful off street parking within the curtilage of existing dwellings, there would be little 
demand for on-street parking. 

Other concerns on increased traffic through the village and its lack of footways (including 
a request for a highway contribution by the County Council) were rejected by the 
inspector as, in the absence of any accident record, it did not appear to be unsafe with no 
significant harm to pedestrians or free flow of traffic 

The applicant highlights that the level of traffic would be reduced by the smaller scale of 
the development (approximately 3 vehicles per hour) and that, in conjunction with these 
boundary details, would result in any loss of amenity being negligible. The narrowing of 
the highway would not reduce any loss of amenity and the road proposed is similar to 
others in the locality.

Officers also consider that off-site highway works have to be proportional to the scale of 
the development proposed. Some former considerations e.g. footway improvements are 
no longer necessary for the scale of the development proposed. 

Nature conservation/Ecology

Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) seeks development proposals to 
safeguard important geodiversity assets and ensure internationally protected species will 
be afforded the highest level of protection.

Ecological survey evidence was submitted with the former application .The loss of a 
section of hedgerow and its function as a corridor for the movement of red squirrels 
through the site represented one of the Council’s former reasons for refusal on the earlier 
application 

The Inspector, in assessing the previous ecological evidence, referred to the Council’s 

Page 38



Local Plan policy seeking that development should not have an unacceptable adverse 
effect on an animal species protected by law. He concluded that, although a red squirrel 
was spotted on the site, this was not noted to be within a breeding or resting place. So, 
even though the proposed scheme would lead to loss of part of that hedgerow, it would 
not affect part of its protected habitat and hence there would be no conflict with its legal 
protection nor, by extension, Policy ENV32. He continued that, although other species of 
wildlife interest may be found on or close to the site (badgers or bats) the proposed 
scheme would have no direct harmful effect on these species or their habitats subject to 
mitigation planning conditions.

The current application is supported by an addendum to the ecology report formerly 
submitted under the earlier application. The applicant has also submitted an addendum 
bat survey report (Sept 2018)
It is important to note that the revised scheme, unlike its predecessor, does not involve 
the loss of any trees or hedgerows, the trees have nil or low potential for roosting bats 
(albeit there is high potential in the neighbouring tree T6 which has moderate high 
roosting potential some potential). It concludes most of the site remains in the same 
condition as the earlier application with two trees on the neighbouring land (outside the 
applicants control) being removed.

Officers consider that, in the absence of any removal of established landscaping, the 
proposal would not result in any direct loss of any habitat. There may be indirect impacts 
on local populations using the hedges and trees along the site boundaries. Increased 
lighting on site is considered to be the greatest risk of significant impact. Mitigation 
measures are included relating to lighting during construction and post construction.  

Clearly the site has some ecological sensitivity, in particular relating to the potential to 
impact on bats and the potential to cause harm directly to the adjacent watercourse Eller 
Beck and important species within that watercourse. The importance of Eller Beck is 
raised by its connectivity to the Derwent, which is a SSSI/SAC. The Environment Agency 
has raised any no objections to the proposal in respect to the ecological implications of 
the proposal, subject to mitigation: pollution prevention measures during construction and 
an 8m buffer strip. 

The Habitats Regulations transpose prohibitions against activities affecting European 
Protected Species – in this case, bats and otters. The Directive provides for the 
derogation from these prohibitions for specified reasons and providing certain conditions 
are met. These are referred to as the three derogation tests applied by Natural England 
at the licensing stage. Standing advice indicates that, where it is likely that one of the 
prohibitions of the regulations is offended, it is necessary for the LPA to consider the 
likelihood of a licence being granted at the planning application stage.
However in this instance in the absence of the removal of either hedgerows or trees it is 
considered there is no necessity to undertake these tests. I.e. the works are unlikely to 
require any licence.

In relation to otters, again no direct impacts on this species are identified; indirect impacts 
can be mitigated to a large extent through the application of appropriate conditions i.e. it 
is considered that the conservation status of both of these species would be maintained. 

Page 39



Drainage 

The application has been supported by a Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water 
Drainage Strategy, as well as a Utilities and Foul Water Assessment. 

The site is located within Flood Zone 1 as defined by the Environment Agency, which is 
at the lowest probability of flooding and suitable for residential development. 

Surface water drainage is indicated as connecting to the watercourse at Eller Beck to the 
south. In order to ensure that surface water run-off does not increase flood risk to others, 
it is proposed to attenuate the discharge to Eller Beck. The submitted drainage strategy 
indicates that the ground conditions are not suitable for large infiltration systems and, 
therefore, it is recommended that a combination of small scale permeable measures are 
used, along with an attenuation system comprising large diameter pipes and a flow 
control chamber incorporating a hydro-brake which will be required to reduce the post-
development run-off rates to the greenfield run-off rates. 

Drainage and flood risk did not constitute a ground for refusal on the earlier application 
dismissed at appeal.

United Utilities the Environment Agency and the lead local flood authority have raised no 
objections to the submitted details. The drainage details are therefore considered 
satisfactory. 

Affordable Housing 

The policy S8 trigger to require affordable housing for this proposed scale of 
development in this location is not met i.e an affordable housing contribution (whether on-
site or as an off-site contribution) is not required. 

The applicant has offered an affordable home as a benefit to be applied to the overall 
tilted balance; plot 4 will be made available as an affordable unit, specifically as flexible 
single storey accommodation (suitable for the elderly or residents with mobility issues or 
with carers). They also suggest that policy S8 is not consistent with the NPPF and the 
weight afforded to this Local Plan policy should be tempered as a result of this 
inconsistency, although there is no detail to substantiate this claim.

Members may note this offer is above and beyond policy requirements. However, there is 
no unmet need for such accommodation to be provided in this location and, therefore, 
whilst an undertaking can be offered by the applicant, weight should not be offered to it 
as a benefit in the overall tilted balance; the provision does not meet the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations requirements insofar as it is note necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms and nor is it fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the development.1

1 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 2010 No. 948 PART 11 Regulation 122

Page 40

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/948/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/948/part/11/made


Heritage /Archaeology

There is a nearby listed cattle pen on the opposite side of Ellerbeck Brow.
The listing description describes it as:- 

“BRIGHAM ELLERBECK BROW NY 03 SE (West side) Brigham 4/82 Cattle pound at 
High 3-3-67 Ellerbeck Bridge (previously listed as "Cattle Pond at Ellerbeck Bridge") II 
Cattle pound. Early C19. Calciferous sandstone rubble. Low drystone wall with 
alternative large and small stone coping, enclosing a small roughly rectangular area 
between a field and the former road leading to a ford over the river. Now disused and 
overgrown but a rare survival in this area.”

The applicant has submitted a supporting Heritage Statement evaluating the impact on 
the setting of this asset in the context of the duty under section 66 of the Listed Buildings 
Act, policy S27 of the Local Plan Part 1 and the NPPF.  
The significance of the asset is partly derived from its setting in an area that was 
historically based on an agrarian economy. However, this agrarian setting has been 
diminished, most notably through the development of modern detached properties which 
are staggered down the slope of Ellerbeck Brow. However, some of this historical setting 
remains through its visibility on the roadside as one approach the village from the west. 

In the officer’s opinion, given the separation distance and the intervening land use of the 
neighbouring property’s domestic garden, it is considered that the harm to the setting is 
negligible. 
 
The application has been accompanied by an Archaeological Desk Based Assessment, 
which has been considered by the County Archaeologist; they raise no objections to the 
scheme. The proposal is not considered to raise any archaeological issues. 

Land Contamination/Stability

The application has been accompanied by a Preliminary Ground Investigation Report 
and Phase 1 Environmental Site Assessment. The Council’s Environmental Protection 
Officer has considered the application and does not require any further site investigation 
or remediation in respect to contamination/gas migration, subject to conditions e.g. radon 
gas protection) large scale infiltration type drainage systems are not suitable at this site.

As such, the proposal is considered acceptable in relation to policy S30 of the Local Plan 
and advice contained within the NPPF.  

Local Financial Considerations

The Localism Act provides that local financial considerations may be a material 
consideration to a planning application. Where financial matters are considered, it is 
necessary to clarify how financial considerations have impacted on the decision, and 
why.

Were the application to be approved and the dwellings occupied, the development would 
attract ‘New Homes Bonus’, plus council tax. However this has been accorded no weight 

Page 41



in assessing the merits of this proposal.

The tilted balance and conclusions 

Permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies of this 
framework or taken as a whole.

Officers accept the scheme is substantially different to that of the former scheme.
 
Brigham remains a sustainable location for residential development and the scale of the 
scheme as minor development is acceptable. There are modest benefits arising from the 
provision of this minor quantum of homes (derived from providing the homes and the 
employment during the construction phase) but these benefits are significantly and 
demonstrably outweighed by the adverse impacts, specifically the impact on the village 
character and the on the residential amenity of two existing dwellings. 

Page 42



Annex 1

Reasons for refusal

1. The application site is located in a distinctive rural countryside setting, adjoining and 
beyond the existing settlement edge. The development would introduce a non-
essential residential form within this setting to the detriment of the character and 
appearance of this village edge. Specifically, it significantly erodes the distinctive 
character of the settlement features, pattern and identity locality. As a result it would 
be incongruous development in this locality. As such it is contrary to policies S1, S3, 
S5 and DM14 of the adopted Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 – 2014 and the provisions 
of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

2. The proposed development would, by virtue of the siting , scale and appearance of 
the dwellinghouse on the southernmost plot, result in the significant loss of amenity 
to the occupiers of Brookside and Hwyns contrary to policies S4, S5 and S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014 and the provisions of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019.

3. The proposed development would, by virtue of the proximity of the proposed access 
road and lack of mitigation provided by the boundary treatment, result in 
environmental disturbance to the occupiers of Brookside from traffic using the 
proposed access road. This disturbance would result in the significant loss of 
amenity contrary to policies S4, S5 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014 
and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

Page 43



Proactive Statement

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against, primarily, the development plan policies, 
any duties applicable and also all material considerations, including emerging Local Plan 
policy, the National Planning Policy Framework and any stakeholder representations that 
may have been received. In this context, having identified matters of concern with the 
proposal and discussed those with the applicant, the issues are so fundamental to the 
proposal that it has not been possible to negotiate a satisfactory way forward and, due to 
the harm which has been clearly identified within the reason(s) for the refusal, approval 
has not been possible.

Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 48



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0372

Proposed 
Development:

Demolition of existing dwelling and re-development to provide part 
residential development and part allotments (outline with all 
matters reserved)

Location: Land rear of
Moor House
Marsh Terrace
Ellenborough
Maryport

Applicant: Mr B Rogers

Drawing Numbers: 5147-02A Location Plan
5147-01A Proposed Site Plan
5147-Design, Access & Heritage Statement
Phase 1 Desktop Study

Recommendation: Approve, subject to conditions and the signing of a section 
106 agreement to secure 20% affordable housing and for a fee 
to cover the costs of a modified Traffic Regulation Order to 
secure highway works resulting from the creation of a new 
access off the A594.

Consultation with the Town Council on the amended plans 
has not yet expired. Members are therefore requested to 
delegate the final decision to the Planning and Building 
Control Manager pending receipt of these final comments.  

Summary/Key Issues
Issue Conclusion

Principle of 
development

The site falls within the existing settlement limits of Maryport and 
the scale of the housing proposal (15 dwellings) is considered to 
be commensurate to the size and role of the town as a Key 
Service Centre. The site is surrounded predominantly by existing 
housing and therefore additional housing on this site would be a 
compatible use.

The proposal will involve the development of predominantly 
greenfield land, which is sequentially less preferable to previously 
developed land. However, the allocation of housing land for 
Maryport includes mainly greenfield sites within the Allerdale Local 
Plan Part 2 Submission Draft and whilst there are small pockets of 
previously developed land within the town, the anticipated level of 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



housing that Maryport is intended to deliver would exceed this. As 
such, the release of a greenfield site is considered to be 
acceptable. 
  

Replacement 
Allotment 
Provision

The original proposal has been amended to include the provision 
of some allotments. This has followed a quantitative and qualitative 
assessment of the site by Officers which has established that 
576sqm of land on site is presently in genuine allotment use. This 
provision would be secured by condition. On this basis, the health 
and wellbeing benefits of the existing use would be retained in the 
long term, albeit there is likely to be some short term disruption. 
The open space has limited amenity value in other respects. 
Subject to the replacement allotment provision, the scheme is 
considered to accord with the requirements of Policy S25. 

Sustainability, 
Access and 
Parking

The site is considered to be in a sustainable location, with access 
to public transport and a range of amenities within reasonable 
walking distance. 

The proposal will involve the creation of a new access off the A594 
and the Highways Authority has queried the achievability of 
visibility splays, but has not raised any concerns as to any wider 
safety issues arising from an additional highway access at this 
location. Amended plans have been provided demonstrating the 
achievable visibility and the implications for on street parking. 

Officers are satisfied that the scale of housing development 
proposed can accommodate any need for residual off street 
parking for the proposed housing, including the provision of 
displaced spaces for residents of Marsh Terrace, from the loss of 
on-street parking likely to arise from visibility splay requirements.

On this basis, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms 
of the sustainability of the location, the provision of parking and 
highway safety. 
 

Standard of 
Housing 
Environment

As the application has been submitted in outline with all matters 
reserved, it is not possible at this stage to determine the standard 
of housing environment of future occupiers. However, the 
indicative plan is considered sufficient to conclude that the site 
would be capable of accommodating up to 15 units that would be 
able to provide a good standard of housing environment in terms 
of privacy/outlook/outdoor space. 

Housing Mix The adequacy of the housing mix would be fully assessed at the 
reserved matters stage. The applicant has confirmed their 
willingness to provide for 20% affordable housing provision in 
accordance with policy S8. This would need to be secured by s106 
agreement along with the tenure mix, should Members be minded 
to approve the application. The size and positioning of these units 

Page 50



within the scheme would be determined at the reserved matters 
stage.  

Impact on 
Residential 
Amenity

As the application has been submitted in outline with all matters 
reserved, it is not possible at this stage to determine the standard 
the impact of the development on the amenity of neighbouring 
residents at this stage. However, due to the significant change in 
levels in the vicinity of the site, it is considered appropriate to limit 
the number of units proposed to that shown on the indicative plan, 
to limit any dwellings adjacent to the northern boundary of the site 
to single storey only and to condition the submission of cross 
sections and existing and proposed floor levels as part of the 
reserved matters. Through these controls, it is considered that the 
amenity of neighbouring residents would be adequately protected. 

Heritage Assets The former Crown Inn to the eastern boundary of the site is a 
Grade II listed building and the proposal has the potential to impact 
on its setting. Given the historic use of the building, the open 
aspect frontage and orientation of this building to the A594 is 
considered the most important aspect of its setting. 

Whilst the full impact of the proposal on the setting of this listed 
building cannot be determined at this stage, it is considered that 
will careful consideration of placement, massing and levels, a 
scheme could be achieved that would not impact significantly on 
the setting of the heritage asset. 

Ecology Ecological interest is considered to be limited to the potential 
presence of bats, and any direct impacts are considered to be a 
low risk. An advisory note is considered to be sufficient in this 
case. 

Trees The proposal would involve some tree removal, none of which are 
considered worthy of a TPO. Landscaping of the site is a reserved 
matter and, at this stage, replacement tree planting can be 
secured. 

Ground 
Conditions

A Phase 1 Geo-technical Report has been provided with the 
application which recommends further site investigation. 
Environmental Health concur with this and recommend appropriate 
conditions. Further, a Construction Management Plan secures 
measures to monitor and protect adjacent properties from vibration 
damage during the build stage. 

Surface Water 
Drainage

The site is not at risk of flooding but flooding issues have been 
experienced along Gill Beck to the north. Conditions are 
recommended for the control, management and maintenance of a 
detailed drainage scheme. 

Page 51



Proposal

An outline planning application has been submitted for the demolition of an existing 
dwelling, and the re-development of the residential curtilage of this property and further 
land to the east, presently in use, in part, as allotments. The re-development would be 
part residential development and part re-provision of allotments. The application has 
been made in outline, with all matters reserved. 

Indicative plans have been provided for the proposed scheme, which demonstrate how 
the site could be re-developed. These have been amended during the course of the the 
allotments and the residential units could be accomodated on site. The indicative scheme 
has been revised down from 31 units to 15 units. The revised indicative scheme provides 
for an area of allotments measuring approx. 725sqm. 

The indicative plan shows a vehicular access off the A594 in a similar location to the 
existing access serving Moor House. Two pedestrian access points in addition to the 
main access, from Selina Terrace and Main Street would be retained. 

The indicative plan shows three terraced houses adjacent to the proposed access, with a 
range of detached houses extending into the rear of the site. Four units, positioned 
towards the northern boundary of the site (to the rear of Marsh Terrace/Robinson 
Terrace), are indicated as single storey bungalows, whilst the remainder are indicated as 
two storey units. 

The proposed allotment area is indicated centrally to the site, adjacent to the southern 
boundary. 

The indicative plan provides for 11 designated parking spaces for residents of Marsh 
Terrace. 
  
Site

The application site comprises of Moor House, a detached two storey dwelling with stone 
frontage of traditional appearance, and its residential curtilage which is extensive. It also 
includes a parcel of land to the south west of Moor House that is partly used for 
traditional allotments, with other parts of the site overgrown and some plots used for 
other purposes, such as dog kennels, storage of building materials etc. An existing 
private driveway accesses Moor House from the A594 and a second vehicular access is 
used by allotment users off Main Road. Pedestrian routes are available into the allotment 
site from Main Road and Selina Terrace. 

The Moor House curtilage contains a small number of mature trees to the frontage (Scots 
Pine), and a small number of fir trees to the rear garden. A number of outbuildings and 
garages exist to the side and rear of the dwelling, with much of the rear garden 
overgrown. Moor House also has a derelict structure attached to its western gable, which 
it is understood was a separate dwelling in the past. A high stone wall separates Moor 
House from Marsh Terrace. 

The site lies within a residential area, with housing to all boundaries. The Crown Inn 

Page 52



(former public House, now restaurant) lies to the eastern boundary, which is a listed 
building. Land levels rise up markedly to the south and, as a result, properties along 
Marsh and Robinson Terrace sit at a much lower ground level than the allotment land. 
Ground levels within the allotments are typically the equivalent of first floor windows or 
eaves level.  Levels continue to rise to the south, with properties along Main Street at a 
higher ground level, albeit level changes here are not so marked. 

Relevant Planning History

None relevant. 

Representations

Maryport Town Council
 
Object due to access and egress concerns, parking provision and lack of allotments in 
the town. 

Environmental Health

1st response
Request a noise survey for the adjacent public house. Recommend conditions relating to 
contaminated land and construction management. 

2nd response
Following clarification that the public house has now changed use to a restaurant, the 
EHO has confirmed that the noise/odour survey can be conditioned to be submitted with 
any reserved matters application, but that this may have implications for the layout or 
construction of the development. 

County Highways

1st response
Requests Speed Survey and Stage 1 Safety Audit. Visibility to east is not satisfactory 
unless speed surveys show speeds of less than 37mph.  

2nd response
Following re-consultation on the amended plans, the Highways Authority accepts that the 
new layout plan demonstrates acceptable visibility of 60m in both directions but that the 
westbound splay will intercept a line of parked cars associated with the terraced housing 
and double yellow lines are considered necessary. This would be secured through an 
application for a modified TRO, approval of which is not guaranteed. The access works 
will need secured through a s278 Agreement and will require a Stage 1 and 2 Safety 
Audit. 

A number of comments are made on the internal layout, a copy of which will be 
forwarded to the applicant to inform the reserved matters application, should planning 
permission be granted. 

Page 53



The Highways Authority recommends conditions should planning permission be granted, 
relating to visibility, standard and delivery of roads/footways, a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan, measures to prevent surface water discharging onto the highway, and 
full surface water drainage details.  

Fire Officer

No comments received. 

CCC Minerals and Waste

No objections. Not within minerals consultation zone. 

United Utilities

Recommend conditions for foul and surface water drainage and 
management/maintenance. 

Cumbria Constabulary

1st and 2nd Response
Raise concerns with potential lack of surveillance of pedestrian routes through the site. 
Provides a number of recommendations to be considered at the reserved matters stage. 

Housing Services

1st Response
Policy requirement for Maryport is 20% provision. Housing Survey 2016 stipulates 
highest need is for four bed and a similar need for three bed and one bed properties for 
older people. 

2nd Response
Express concerns at the position of affordable housing adjacent to the entrance, 
disconnected from the rest of the development, contrary to Policy S7 – for mixed and 
balanced communities. 

Councillor and other representations

The application has been called in for determination by members of Development Panel 
by Cllr Martin Wood. 

The application has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour letter. 

40 letters have been received following consultation on the original submission and 
amendments received prior to the 22 Jan 2019. 

38 letters of objection have been received, the comments are summarised as follows:

 Restricting established access rights at rear/front of neighbouring properties.

Page 54



 Loss of privacy to habitable rooms due to elevated nature of site.
 Loss of natural light.
 Noise, light and air pollution, including during construction, particularly for those 

working shifts.
 Increased crime risk and lack of lighting detail.
 Drainage impacts, already issues of capacity problems with silt blocking gutters 

between Selina Terrace and Ellen Villa. Water flows down the road in periods of 
heavy rainfall. Nearby properties have flooded with remedial work undertaken. 

 Delays from road works as new access constructed.
 De-stabilisation of surrounding properties from ground works/development of the 

site. Previous damage to 12 Marsh Terrace following the demolition of Marsh 
Cottage and the dividing wall between the site and 12 Marsh Terrace is now 
overhanging by 22 inches. The application site is at a higher level, therefore 
groundworks will provide more pressure on this structure.  

 Damage to highway from construction vehicles.
 Addition of more traffic and another junction to an already busy road.
 Loss of on street parking as a result of the access construction in an area where 

parking is already restricted, compromise would be parking on the green space 
opposite Marsh Terrace or parking allocated within the site. 

 Health problems mean that some residents cannot walk long distances from car 
parking, particularly with groceries.

 Impact on property prices.
 Where will construction traffic access and egress, there are already problems with 

people blocking access points to garages. 
 Implications for highways safety from additional traffic on the main road.
 Parts of site fenced off and used as private garden. 
 Loss of allotment space at a time when allotments are becoming more difficult to 

find – with long waiting list. Allotments have been in place since at least 1925. 
Should be protected under the Allotments Act. 

 People have invested in the existing allotments and they provide recreation, 
exercise and well-being.

 There is a strong allotment community here.
 Turning area close to living room windows causing disturbance particularly at 

night. 
 Overdevelopment/Proximity of development will restrict access for maintenance.
 Overall design appears cramped, with frontages dominated by parking and 

shallow gardens. Lack of external space for future residents. Habitable rooms will 
look onto walls and fences.

 Overall design concept is contrary to relevant policies of the ALP Part 1 and 
Building for Life.

 No play provision on site. Nearest facilities are along a main road and across an 
awkward junction. 

 Proximity of bus stop to new access is a safety concern, particularly for school 
children. 

 Loss of views.
 Gardens have been extended onto this land for a considerable number of years 

and now have legal rights. 
 Additional highway safety risk to children playing in the area, A594 already very 

Page 55



busy. 
 Significant number of access points already in the vicinity and only 8-9m to bus 

stop. Will add 62 vehicles to this busy road network.
 Access is not designed to the appropriate standard for an estate of this size. 
 The proposal would restrict any parking to the front of 12 Marsh Terrace. 
 Moor House and the former cottage have been subject of subsidence, caused 

most likely by surface/groundwater. 
 Potential impact on electricity cables.
 Possible use of asbestos in the allotments causing health risk. 
 Loss of greenspace.
 Proposal is lacking technical data on ecology, archaeology and transport. 
 Parked cars will impact on visibility from the proposed access, increasing 

likelihood of accidents. This on street parking already causes congestion, 
particularly when large goods vehicles pass through. 

 The Coal Authority should review the Desk Top Study as mine shafts have been 
located in the vicinity and the potential for shafts on site should not be discounted. 

 Noted birds breeding and feeding on site. 
 Bats are seen regularly in the area and could be using structures on the site. 
 No discussion of trees and how they could be integrated into the design. 
 Loss of green space and no potential for enhancement of wildlife corridors. 
 Unclear how housing mix complies will policy requirements. 
 Potential for new dwellings to be overlooked by properties on Main Street. 
 Dumping or material and burning of waste on site likely to have resulted in 

contamination. 
 Issue of noise and smell from adjacent Indian restaurant. 
 Will existing allotment owners get first refusal on the new provision? 

Two letters of support have been received, the comments are summarised as follows:
 The site is presently a wasteland, it would be better if the land was properly 

maintained. 
 Experienced problems with vermin as a result of the existing use.

Further consultation has been undertaken subsequent to a revised indicative plan which 
alters the access provision and shows visibility splay requirements and, as a result, the 
provision within the scheme of 11 parking spaces for residents of Marsh Terrace, to 
compensate for the loss on street. The additional consultation period has not yet expired.  

At the time of writing, five further letters of representation had been received (up to the 
20th February 2019). The representations are summarised as follows:

 The Construction Management Condition required by Environmental Health is 
important due to damage to boundary walls caused by previous demolitions. 

 The required visibility standards for this proposal fall short of those previously 
applied to development along the A594 in the past. 

 Loss of frontage parking will impact on house prices. 
 Loss of frontage parking will make it more difficult to unload shopping and 

children. 
 Visitors will encounter problems. 

Page 56



 Moving the access closer to the gable end of 12 Marsh Terrace causes a greater 
blind spot for those approaching the junction. 

 The spaces shown are not sufficient for the residents of Marsh Terrace who often 
have more than one vehicle. 

 The affordable units are not provided with enough parking
 Will exacerbate existing flooding and run-off issues. 
 Don’t want disturbance of cars and refuse trucks to the rear of properties.
 Concern over privacy to bedroom windows.
 Allotment users should be encouraged, proposed replacement is only the size of a 

flower bed. 
 The path onto Main Street Ellenborough will block vehicular access behind houses 

at 28, 30, 32 and 34 Main Street. 

Duties

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses.  

Regulation 9 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 requires all 
public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats Directive in the exercise 
of their functions, particularly when determining a planning application for a development 
which may have an impact on European Protected Species ("EPS"), such as bats, great 
crested newts or otters.

Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved Settlement limits

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 – Sustainable Development Principles
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 – Development Principles
Policy S6 – Area Based
Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market
Policy S8 – Affordable Housing
Policy S21 – Developer contributions
Policy S22 - Transport principles
Policy S24 – Green Infrastructure
Policy S25 – Sports, Leisure and Open Space
Policy S27 – Heritage Assets

Page 57



Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S30 – Reuse of Land
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy S35 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy S36 – Air, Water and Soil Quality
Policy DM12 – Sustainable Construction
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy DM17 – Trees, Hedgerow and Woodland

Other material considerations

Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) Submission Draft

SA3 – Affordable Housing
SA5 – Housing Standards
SA6 – Housing Delivery
SA51 – Amenity Greenspace
SA52 – Green Infrastructure

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

Allerdale Borough Council Plan:

• Strengthening our economy - Supporting the development of new homes where they 
are needed. 

Maryport Plan

Policy weighting

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local 
Plan 1999 saved settlement limits and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 
policies have primacy.

A material consideration is the provisions of the revised NPPF. Paragraph 213 of the 
revised NPPF (2019) advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 
vary according to their degree of consistency with the framework (the closer the policies 
in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).
The Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) policies pre-date the revised NPPF and therefore full 
weight can only be afforded to those policies that are considered consistent with the 
revised NPPF. The majority of policies are considered to remain consistent. However, 
having regard to a further material consideration – the appeal decision for land at Great 
Broughton (PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948), it is considered that policies S3 and S5 
of the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 are out of date and can no longer carry 

Page 58



full weight insofar as they relate to the application of the existing settlement limits which 
date from the 1999 Plan and housing numbers. 

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires a presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
For decision taking this means approving development that accords with an up to date 
plan or where policies are out of date, granting permission unless:

i. The application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provide a clear reason for refusing the development, or

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies of the Framework taken as a 
whole. 

In this instance, policies within the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance are applicable to the determination of the application. The site lies within 
close proximity to a listed building.  For this reason, policies within the NPPF relating to 
the consideration of heritage assets are relevant. 

Whilst policies S3 and S5 are out of date in relation to the settlement limits, they are not 
considered to be out of date in all respects.  Nor does it mean that other Local Plan Part 
1 policies are out of date and should not be afforded substantial or full weight where they 
are consistent with the provisions of the NPPF 2019. In this instance, it is assessed that 
the settlement hierarchy within policy S3 can be afforded substantial weight given its 
consistency with the sustainability principles of the NPPF 2019 as can the criteria a) to f) 
of policy S5. Other polices within the Part 1 Local Plan maintain their full weight.

Paragraph 48 of the revised NPPF specifies that weight can be given to emerging plans 
according to their stage of preparation, the extent to which there are unresolved 
objections and the degree of consistency with the Framework. Policies SA51 and SA52 
of the ALP Part 2 Submission Draft are most relevant to the proposal. Having considered 
these relevant policies against the criteria of the NPPF, Policy SA51 is considered to 
carry significant weight and Policy SA52 moderate weight. 

Assessment:

Principle of development

Policy S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (adopted July 2014) (ALP) sets out the 
framework for development across the area. In order to achieve sustainable growth it 
seeks to direct the majority of new growth to Workington, as the principal centre, together 
with other key and local service centres. Beyond this a limited amount of growth is 
expected to take place in a number of identified villages. Policy S5 sets out the 
development principles for proposals within settlements in the hierarchy.

Maryport is defined within the settlement hierarchy as a Key Service Centre and it is 
anticipated that Key Service Centres will see large scale housing growth, some of which 
is anticipated through windfall sites such as the application site. Within the current Plan 
period, Maryport has seen only a limited number of housing applications despite its 
designation as a Key Service Centre. As such, whilst only a small scale proposal for up 
to 15 units (and replacement allotments), the scheme would make a positive contribution 

Page 59



to providing new housing within the town. The scheme falls within the existing settlement 
limits of the 1999 Plan (albeit it is accepted that these settlement limits are now out of 
date), and also within the settlement limits as revised within the Allerdale Local Plan Part 
2 Submission Draft. The location of the proposal within an existing Key Service Centre is 
therefore compatible with policies S3 and S5. 

Policy S30 seeks a sequential approach to the release of land for housing, directing 
development firstly to land which has been previously developed. The revised NPPF 
2019 establishes that both allotments and residential gardens (which in combination form 
this application site) are not considered to be previously developed land. However, in 
considering the allocation of new housing sites within Maryport as part of the preparation 
of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2, it has been necessary to allocate greenfield land, due 
to a lack of previously developed land within the town. As such, it is considered that the 
release of greenfield land is acceptable in this instance. The loss of this residential 
curtilage would not impact significantly on the character of the area at this location as the 
site is surrounded by relatively high density housing with much smaller curtilages. 

Policies S25 and S26 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 seek to protect open spaces and 
wider green infrastructure where it makes a positive contribution to health and wellbeing 
and the social and environmental strands of sustainable development. The proposal 
would see the loss of an established allotment site, which forms approximately two thirds 
of the application site, but the proposal would include for re-provision. Whilst this will be 
discussed in more detail below, in summary, a qualitative and quantitative assessment 
has been made of the extent to which the existing site is being used for traditional 
‘allotment’ uses (as opposed to other uses such as the keeping of dogs, builders 
yard/materials storage etc), and the amended proposal provides for an equal qualitative 
replacement of this allotment area on the indicative plans.  As the application has been 
submitted in outline only with all matters reserved, it is also proposed that this re-
provision of allotment space of not less than 576sqm would be secured by condition.  As 
such, the indicative replacement allotment provision is considered to be acceptable. 
Whilst it will be a smaller area in total, it will provide like for like replacement in terms of 
the area on site presently used as traditional allotment land. 

The scale of the housing proposal (15 dwellings) is considered to be commensurate to 
the size and role of the town as a Key Service Centre. The site is surrounded 
predominantly by existing housing and therefore additional housing on this site would be 
a compatible use. As such, the principle of new housing is considered to be acceptable 
having regard to Policy S3, S30 and DM16 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1). 

Replacement Allotment Provision

Policies S25 and S26 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 seek to protect open spaces and 
wider green infrastructure where it makes a positive contribution to health and wellbeing, 
and to the social and environmental strands of sustainable development. ‘Allotment land’ 
is specified for consideration in both of these policies and is a use that can positively 
contribute to health and wellbeing, which is a key priority for the Council. 
 
Policies SA51 and Sa52 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 are also relevant to the 
proposal. Policy SA51 seeks to re-affirm the protection of open space afforded by Policy 
S25 where that open space has amenity value. Proposals which significantly impact on 

Page 60



that value will not be supported. Policy SA52 of the ALP Part 2 requires that major 
development strengthens existing green infrastructure and the policies map identifies 
land that is considered to contribute to the green infrastructure of the Borough. That part 
of the site presently containing allotments has been designated as ‘Green Infrastructure 
on the proposal map for Maryport. Policy SA51 is considered to carry significant weight 
and Policy SA52 moderate weight at this time. 

Albeit, private land, the Council’s Open Space Strategy 2014 includes the allotment land 
which forms part of the application site (ref. Main Street – 283). The same Strategy 
identifies that, whilst the allotment provision in Allerdale is above the national average, 
there is a waiting list at nearly every allotment site in the District, suggesting demand is 
not being met by supply. Maryport Town Council has confirmed that, in relation to the 
allotment sites they manage, there was a waiting list of 46, as of October 2018. Nearly all 
sites (with the exception of Salterbeck Road Workington) are assessed as high for quality 
and value. The Strategy suggests that such sites should be protected and that there will 
be a need for additional allotment provision up to 2029 in Maryport. 

Given this evidence base and the requirements of policies S25 and S26, Officers have 
sought revisions to the originally submitted application to secure re-provision of allotment 
space within the site, should Members decide to support the proposal. During the course 
of the application, a quantitative and qualitative assessment of the existing allotments 
was undertaken by Officers of the Council. This quantified the area of land in use as 
genuine allotments, on the basis that some parts of the allotment site were not in use and 
some parts were being used for other activities, such as the keeping of dogs and a 
builder’s yard. This assessment concluded that 576sqm of the site is being used as 
allotment land and that the equivalent provision would need to be included in any re-
development. Amended plans were subsequently provided and the description of the 
development amended also to cater for this re-provision. On this basis, the applicant has 
provided for the equivalent replacement provision, in line with the criteria of Policy S25. 
As the application has been made in outline,   it is proposed that this re-provision of 
allotment space of not less than 576sqm would be secured by planning condition.  

The amenity value of the site is limited to the social inclusion and wellbeing benefits 
arising from the provision of the allotments themselves. The site is considered to have 
little amenity value in other respects, such as visually or ecologically. There is some 
permeability through the site and this could be retained through any re-development. The 
indicative layout demonstrates that pedestrian access could be retained from Main 
Street, Selina Terrace and onto the A594. 

Subject to the suggested conditions therefore, the re-development of the site for 
residential and allotment use is considered to be acceptable in relation to policies S25, 
S26, SA51 and SA52 of the ALP parts 1 and 2. It is considered that the proposal will 
maintain the present value of this existing green infrastructure and open space asset.  

Sustainability, Access and Parking

Policies S2 and S22 of the ALP (Part 1) seek to ensure that new development is located 
in areas that help to reduce journey times, have safe and convenient access to public 
transport, improve travel choice and reduce the need to travel by private motor vehicles. 

Page 61



These policies accord with Paragraph 32 of the NPPF which seek to ensure sustainable 
transport modes are maximised and development is safe and accessible. Policy S5 
requires that new development includes acceptable arrangements for car parking and 
access. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states, ‘Development should only be prevented or 
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe’. 

The Institution of Highways and Transportation (IHT) document 'Providing for Journeys 
on Foot’ (2000) considers acceptable walking distances for planning and evaluation 
purposes and indicates that for commuting/school a distance of 500m is desirable, 
1000m is acceptable and 2000m is the preferred maximum. For other journeys (such as 
shops), 400m is desirable, 800m is acceptable and 1200m is the preferred maximum.  
The site lies approx. 1.3km from the main thoroughfares of Senhouse Street and Curzon 
Street and 1.2km from Maryport Railway Station. There is a bus stop located adjacent to 
the site frontage onto the A594 which is served by a regular bus service connecting to 
the town and to Workington and Whitehaven, with a further service (albeit less regular) 
connecting to Cockermouth. Other facilities, such as schools, churches and corner shops 
are available at closer proximity in Netherton, at approx. 700m.  As such, the site is 
considered to be in a sustainable location on the basis that the services and facilities of 
this Key Service Centre are within reasonable walking distance, including regular bus 
services and regular rail services to Workington and Carlisle.  

The surrounding highway network provides adequate paved and lit facilities for 
pedestrians connecting to the town centre and public transport. National Cycle Route 72 
(Cumbrian Coastal route and Hadrian’s Cycleway) all pass through the town and are 
accessible from the site. On this basis, the proposal is considered to be accessible by a 
range of options other than the private car, and sustainable, in accordance with policies 
S2 and S22 of the ALP (Part 1). 

Whilst no public footpaths run through the site, it was noted at the site visit that informal 
footpaths extend into the site from Selina Terrace and Main Street. The existence of 
these routes have been raised with the applicant and the amended indicative layout plan 
maintains these routes and connects them to the A594, thereby improving permeability 
through the site. This permeability of the site would need to be secured at the detailed 
stage. Cumbria Constabulary raises the issue of surveillance of such routes and there 
remains scope at the detailed design stage to improve surveillance of such routes over 
and above the existing by the orientation of the proposed housing and the inclusion of 
windows to gables etc. 

With regards to any residual need for parking, the application has been submitted in 
outline with all matters reserved. No unit numbers for the housing have been specified in 
the description of development. A revised indicative layout plan provides for 15 dwellings 
with associated in curtilage parking, an allotment space with two designated parking 
areas and 11 additional parking spaces for residents of Marsh Terrace, to compensate 
for the loss of on street parking that is likely to arise from the formation of a new access 
off the A594. 

On street parking is limited on the A594 and, therefore, it is considered appropriate to 
ensure that adequate parking can be achieved on site. Officers are satisfied that the 
indicative plan demonstrates that the site could accommodate up to 15 units, with the 

Page 62



necessary on-site parking provision, as well as any displaced parking from the frontage 
of Marsh Terrace (the Highways Authority has indicated that the access and visibility 
splays are likely to require double yellow lines to the west, removing potentially 10 
spaces, albeit this is subject to a road safety audit). It is considered appropriate to limit, 
by condition, the number of housing units proposed to 15 in this case because additional 
unit numbers could potentially have adverse impacts in terms of parking requirements 
and in turn, highway safety and no information has been provided to the contrary. 

Final details as to the layout, parking provision etc would be determined at the reserved 
matters stage. 

Albeit reserved for subsequent approval, the proposed development will require a new 
access to be formed off the A594, where presently there is only a private driveway 
serving Moor House. A number of representations raise concern with a further access at 
this location, due to the close proximity of other junctions off the A594 at Gillbeck Place 
(directly opposite) and Main Street to the east (approx.. 50m), the busy nature of the 
highway and the restricted nature of it, due to parked cars. The first response from the 
Highways Authority raised concerns relating to achievable visibility and, as a result of 
this, additional speed survey information and amendments to the indicative layout have 
been received. 

Following re-consultation, the Highways Authority has not raised any objection to the 
proposal subject to those conditions specified above. This includes the securing of 
visibility splays of 60m in both directions from any new access, which will require double 
yellow lines to part of the A594 extending across Marsh Terrace.     

Based on the amendments received, the advice of the Highways Authority and subject to 
the recommended conditions, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in relation to 
policies S2, S5 and S22 of the ALP (Part 1) and the advice contained within the NPPF.

Standard of Housing Environment

Policy S4 requires that new developments function well, ensuring suitable standards of 
access and amenity and Policy DM14 supports this. As the application has been 
submitted in outline with all matters reserved, it is not possible at this stage to determine 
the standard of housing environment of future occupiers. However, the indicative plan is 
considered sufficient to conclude that the site would be capable of accommodating up to 
15 units that would be capable of providing a good standard of housing environment in 
terms of privacy/outlook/outdoor space etc. 

To the eastern boundary of the site is the former Crown Inn, now in use as an Indian 
restaurant. There is the potential for the proposed development to be affected by noise 
and odour from these premises and therefore Environmental Health has advised that, 
should planning permission be granted, a condition should secure the submission of a 
suitable assessment of this issue, to inform any reserved matters application. The 
outcome of this assessment may impact on the layout of the development, but as all 
matters are reserved, this approach is considered to be acceptable. 

Mix of Housing

Page 63



Policy S7 of the ALP (Part 1) seeks to achieve an appropriate mix of housing and Policy 
S8 seeks to achieve a percentage of affordable units, where a certain threshold is 
exceeded.

As the application has been submitted in outline with all matters reserved, it is not 
possible at this stage to determine the appropriateness of the housing mix. However, the 
indicative plans show a mix of 2, 3 and 4 bedroom houses and bungalows. The housing 
mix could be fully assessed at the reserved matters stage, should permission be granted. 

The applicant has confirmed their willingness to provide for 20% affordable housing 
provision in accordance with policy S8. This would need to be secured by s106 
agreement along with the tenure mix, should Members be minded to approve the 
application. The size and positioning of these units within the scheme would be 
determined at the reserved matters stage.  

Impact on Residential Amenity

Policy S32 of the ALP (Part 1) seeks to ensure that new development does not have a 
significant adverse impact on the amenity of existing residents. 

There are existing residential properties to all boundaries of the site, with the exception of 
the former Crown Inn. Due to the local topography, terraced properties along Marsh 
Terrace, Robinson’s Terrace and Marsh Villa are at a significantly lower ground level, 
with properties to the south at a higher level. The existing ground level of the site is 
generally exceeding first floor level on these terraces to the north and is approaching 
eaves level. Again, as the application has been submitted in outline with all matters 
reserved, it is not possible at this stage to fully determine the impact of the proposal on 
residential amenity. However, a reduction in the proposed housing numbers has been 
sought  due to concerns that the initial scheme provided for only very shallow garden 
depths and limited separation distances where such significant level changes would 
justify exceeding the normal standards. 

Officers are satisfied that the reduction in units to 15 as shown on the revised indicative 
layout is more appropriate. It is considered appropriate to condition any permission to 
restrict the reserved matters application to a maximum of 15 units, because it has not 
been demonstrated that a greater number could be accommodated without causing harm 
to the amenity of neighbouring residents. It is also considered appropriate to condition 
that any units proposed adjacent to the northern boundary of the site shall be restricted to 
single storey only. Any greater scale of development is likely to have an unacceptable 
impact on outlook of residents to the north. 

Any reserved matters application would need to be supported by cross sections through 
the site and those properties to the north to demonstrate that, even with the restriction to 
single storey, adequate separation distances were achieved, which may need to exceed 
the standard 21metres for back to back elevations. Officers would also expect to see a 
form of development that limited any large gables ends facing onto this boundary, with 
hipped roof designs potentially to further reducing any imposing scale or massing. 

Subject to the recommended conditions and through the careful consideration of the 

Page 64



scheme at the reserved matters stage, it is considered that the residential amenity of 
neighbouring properties could be adequately protected.  

The creation of the necessary access to the proposal is likely to result in the loss of on 
street parking along the A594 to the front of properties on Marsh Terrace. The Highways 
Authority indicates that possibly 10 on street parking spaces could be lost due to the 
required visibility splays and the formation of the access itself (the exact loss is to be 
confirmed by Safety Audit). As indicated above, the proposal includes for the re-provision 
of 11 spaces on the indicative plan within the application site. The submitted plan shows 
11 spaces arranged in close proximity to the access where it would extend from the 
A594. This alternative parking provision would be at a greater distance from these 
properties on Marsh Terrace than the existing on street parking that exists directly to their 
frontage. As such, it would be less conveniently located.  However, the off street parking 
provision would offer some benefits in terms of safety for people accessing and 
egressing the car on a busy main road and the potential for damage to these vehicles 
from passing cars, buses and lorries. Further, there is the potential for these parking bays 
to be designated spaces, whereas on street parking is not. 

Members of the public have been re-consulted on these proposed changes and 
Members will be updated with any comments. Officers are of the view that the revised 
parking provision for existing residents would have both positive and negative impacts 
but that overall the harm to the convenience of residents would not be sufficient reasons 
to refuse the application, subject to a Grampian condition and s106 Agreement to secure 
the delivery of alternative parking within the site. 

These off site works within the adopted highway would not be within the control of the 
applicant and would require a Traffic Regulation Order. The delivery of the changes 
through a TRO is not guaranteed, but it is considered in this case, that there is a 
reasonable prospect of delivery. Therefore a ‘Grampian’ style condition is considered 
appropriate. Such conditions require the necessary works to be secured before a 
particular development or use can take place. 

This approach follows guidance within the National Planning Policy Guidance which 
states that, ‘Conditions requiring works on land that is not controlled by the applicant, or 
that requires the consent or authorisation of another person or body often fail the tests of 
reasonableness and enforceability. It may be possible to achieve a similar result using a 
condition worded in a negative form (a Grampian condition) – i.e. prohibiting 
development authorised by the planning permission or other aspects linked to the 
planning permission (e.g. occupation of premises) until a specified action has been taken 
(such as the provision of supporting infrastructure). Such conditions should not be used 
where there are no prospects at all of the action in question being performed within the 
time-limit imposed by the permission’. 

 
Heritage Assets

Policy S27 of the ALP Part 1 seek to conserve and enhance heritage assets within the 
Plan area in accordance with their level of significance, reflecting advice within the 
revised NPPF. 

Page 65



The application site lies adjacent to the former Crown Inn, which is a Grade II listed 
building. There are no other heritage assets within the locality.  

The listing for the former Crown Inn states:

‘Early C19. 2 storeys in sandstone with double span slate roof. 3 windows in stone 
surrounds. Stone pilasters at ends. Hung sashes with glazing bars. 2 windows to 
ground floor flank entry with modern wood porch. 1 modern window to right in 
stone surround, and modern brick entry. Attached storage premises of 2 storeys 
with a hoist door to the 1st floor’.

The submitted Design, Access and Heritage Statement provides the listing description of 
this asset only, and does not consider the significance of the asset itself or the impact of 
the proposal on that significance.

The former Crown Inn has the appearance of a traditional inn and it is assumed therefore 
that this was its original use, albeit limited information has been obtainable. This 
assumption is supported by its location on the main thoroughfare between the 
settlements of Maryport and Cockermouth and the orientation of the inn as it presents 
itself onto the road, with an open aspect and wide open space to its frontage, to attract 
and accommodate passing trade. Historically therefore, it is considered to be this 
presentation of the inn to the main road and its open aspect towards the east that forms 
the more important element of its setting. The building itself has been subject to some 
later additions to its front and side elevations towards the A594. No private land is 
currently available to the rear of the Inn. It has not been established if this has always 
been the case, but the presence of a stone wall to the boundary with Moor House 
suggests that the Inn has not benefitted from curtilage to the rear. 

The proposal would not impact on the more historically important frontage setting of the 
former Inn. The proposal would introduce development potentially to the north east along 
the A594 and at the rear. Providing adequate separation distances are achieved, and 
floor levels/massing of any new builds are carefully considered at the reserved matters 
stage, then it is considered that a form of development could be secured that would not 
encroach onto or dominate this building inappropriately, thereby safeguarding the setting 
of this listed building acceptably, in accordance with policy S27 of the ALP Part 1 and 
section 66 of the Act. In this regard, it is summarised that there is less than substantial 
harm to the setting of the listed building and the noted benefits of the sites re-
development and the provision of additional homes to re-inforce the residential character 
of the area and support its existing services, would outweigh that harm. 

Ecology

Policy S35 of the ALP (Part 1) seeks to protect and enhance ecological interest. 

No Phase 1 Habitat Survey or additional survey information have been provided with the 
application. The present use of the site as allotments and residential garden is not 
considered to offer any significant biodiversity interest other than the potential for bats 
within buildings or mature trees and birds. Having considered the buildings and trees on 
site, Moor House, whilst appearing of 19th century construction, appears to be well 

Page 66



maintained, with no obvious damage or deterioration of the roof or external walls that 
would allow for bat ingress to the roof. There is considered to be relatively low potential 
for bats to be using the site in large numbers, and therefore the proposed demolition of 
this building is unlikely to impact significantly on bats. However as representations note 
the presence of bats in the locality, an advisory note is considered appropriate 
referencing the need for a licence from Natural England to undertake any work that may 
impact on a protected species.    

Mature trees on site are limited to a small number of large conifers adjacent to the site 
frontage. Given the proximity of these trees to the A594 and the associated noise and 
lighting, they are considered unlikely to be used by bats. However, the same advisory 
note is considered appropriate in this respect. 
 
Trees

Policy DM17 of the ALP Part 1 seeks to protect existing trees where they are considered 
important to the community or contribute positively to the character of the area or nature 
conservation.

The conifers to the site frontage are large and are a notable feature in the locality. 
However, applying a TEMPO assessment,  they are not considered to be worthy of a 
Tree Preservation Order, nor are any other trees within the rear of the site. Landscaping 
of the site will be considered as a reserved matter and at this stage it will be possible to 
secure an appropriate landscaping scheme for the site, including any replacement 
planting for those to be removed. 

Ground Conditions/Stability

Policy S30 of the ALP Part 1 requires that, for proposals where there is a risk of potential 
onsite contamination or ground stability, it must be subject to appropriate assessment by 
a suitably qualified person to the current British standards. 

The application has been supported by a Phase 1 Desk Top Study, which includes a 
Coal Authority Coal Mining Report. Whilst the latter does not record any mining or 
opencast activity at the site, five mine shaft entries are noted within close proximity to the 
site. The site is therefore considered to be potentially at risk from unrecorded shallow 
mine workings, not a direct structural risk, but possible through mine gas migrations. 
Some contamination risk is also identified from historic uses. The report therefore 
recommends full Phase 2 Site Investigations, including exploratory boreholes and any 
necessary remediation, along with gas monitoring.  

Subject to appropriate conditions, the Council’s Environmental Health section has 
recommended specific conditions to address the risks identified.

A number of residents also raise concerns relating to impacts on stability of adjoining 
properties, particularly a high stone wall that presently forms the boundary between the 
site and 12 Marsh Terrace. The Council’s Environmental Health section has 
recommended specific condition for a Construction Management Plan, which includes for 
the monitoring of damage from vibration during construction. Further to the need for 
additional site investigation identified above arising predominantly from former coal 

Page 67



workings, there is no other evidence to suggest that the ground is significantly unstable. 
These conditions are therefore considered suitable and based on the advice of the 
Council’s Environmental Health section, it is considered that the requirements of Policy 
S30 are met. 

Separate protections to private property may be available through the Party Wall Act.

Flood Risk and Drainage

Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 requires that developments should be 
avoided in locations that would be at risk of flooding or where it would increase the level 
of flooding elsewhere.

The site lies within flood zone 1, which is at the lowest probability of flooding. However, 
there are noted concerns with flooding issues to the north at Gill Beck. It will be 
necessary for the development to manage flood risk to others by attenuating surface 
water run-off to the existing rate. No detailed drainage information has been provided 
with the application, but it is considered that this matter can be appropriately secured by 
conditions to secure a means of surface water drainage and attenuation, and for its 
maintenance and management. 

Other Issues:

It is noted that a number of private accesses appear to exist to the rear of properties on 
Main Street and March Terrace, Robinson Terrace and Marsh Villa.
Albeit, the retention of private rights is not a planning matter, the issue has been 
highlighted to the applicant so that any lawful rights can be accommodated into the 
scheme to be finalised at the reserved matters stage. 

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will have 
financial implications arising from New Homes Bonus and Council Tax Revenue. 

Conclusion

In principle, the development is considered to be acceptable. It provides for an additional 
15 residential units within the existing settlement of Maryport, which is a Key Service 
Centre, intended to accommodate a significant level of new housing development. The 
scale of the development insofar as it relates to unit numbers, is considered to be 
compatible with the size of the settlement. 

The proposal includes for the re-provision of allotment land within the re-development of 
a quantity equivalent to that being lost, following assessment of the area of land on site 
which is presently in use for genuine allotment purposes, in accordance with policy S25 
of the ALP Part 1. 

Page 68



The proposal is considered to be located within a sustainable location, with access to 
local shops and amenities and public transport. A new access would be formed off the 
A594 which is a busy road, however, subject to amended plans to demonstrate that 
appropriate visibility splays could be achieved, the Highways Authority has raised no 
objections in this respect. It is considered that up to 15 units could be achieved on site 
whilst securing appropriate parking provision for future occupiers and the provision of 
displaced spaces from the frontage of Marsh Terrace. 

The benefits of the proposal would principally arise from the construction of 15 houses 
within a Key Service Centre and therefore a sustainable location, along with the delivery 
of a small number of affordable housing units, and the associate social and economic 
benefits associated with the construction of new housing. Adverse impacts of the 
proposal are likely to arise from the inconvenience caused to existing allotment users 
presently on site, due to re-location and rationalising of the allotment units within the re-
development. This will be on a temporary basis only.  Further inconvenience for existing 
residents would result from the re-positioning of existing on street parking within the site 
for residents of Marsh Terrace, albeit there are some benefits arising from this also in 
terms of safe access/egress to parked cars on a busy main road.  

Subject to the recommended conditions and further to the submission of additional 
details of scale, layout, appearance, landscaping and access at the reserved matters 
stage, it is considered that matters relating to residential amenity, standard of housing 
environment, heritage assets, ground conditions and drainage are addressed, or can be 
adequately addressed at the reserved matters stage.   The proposal is therefore 
considered to be acceptable having regard to the relevant policies of the ALP Part 1 and 
advice contained within the NPPF 2019. In the absence of any reason for refusal relating 
to heritage assets, applying the tilted balance, the adverse impacts of the proposal are 
not significant, and would be outweighed by the benefits of the proposal. 

Page 69



Annex 1

Time Limit:

1. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no later than 
the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this permission and the 
development shall begin no later  than whichever is the later of the following 
dates:
(a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this permission, or 
(b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved matters or, 

in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such 
matter to be approved.

Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

In Accordance:
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following plans:
Amended Plan 5147-02C Location Plan 21.01.19
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete accordance 
with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations to the scheme 
are properly considered.

Pre-commencement conditions:

3. Before any development commences details of the layout, scale and 
appearance, access and landscaping (hereinafter called ‘reserved matters’) shall 
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in accordance 
with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order 2015.

4. No development approved by this permission shall commence until all 
necessary site investigation works within the site boundary have been carried out 
to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its potential to 
pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The scope of works for 
the site investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior 
to the commencement.
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 70

javascript:AppBlobImage('469536');


5. Should land affected by contamination be identified following site 
investigations which poses unacceptable risks to human health, controlled 
waters or the wider environment, no development shall take place until a detailed 
remediation scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of remediation 
options, identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and programme of the 
works to be undertaken including the verification plan.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

6. Construction Management Plan:
No development shall take place until a Construction and Demolition Method 
Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The statement shall include the following:
(a) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the construction 

and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of damage from 
vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. All 
measurements should make reference to BS7445.

(b) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential properties 
from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, and light 
pollution.

(c) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the construction 
or demolition;

(d) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction and 
demolition (including any wheel washing facilities);

(e) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;
(f) Hours of working and deliveries;
(g) Details of lighting to be used on site;
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
development.
Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties during the construction works of the development hereby approved, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

7. Development shall not commence until a Construction Phase Traffic 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The CTMP shall include details of:
(a) pre-construction road condition established by a detailed survey for 

accommodation works within the highways boundary conducted with a 
Highway Authority representative; with all post repairs carried out to the 
satisfaction of the Local Highway Authority at the applicants expense;

(b) details of proposed crossings of the highway verge;
(c) retained areas for vehicle parking, maneuvering, loading and unloading 

for their specific purpose during the development;
(d) cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway;

Page 71



(e) details of proposed wheel washing facilities;
(f) the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage 

or deposit of any materials on the highway;
(g) construction vehicle routing;
(h) the management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway 

and other public rights of way/footway;
(i) surface water management details during the construction phase
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

8. Details of all measures to be taken by the applicant/developer to prevent 
surface water discharging onto or off the highway shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval prior to development being commenced. Any 
approved works shall be implemented prior to the development being completed 
and shall be maintained operational thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental management.

9. No development shall commence until a detailed assessment of noise and odour 
emanating from the adjacent restaurant at the former Crown Inn, Main Street, 
Maryport, has been submitted for approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The report shall be carried out by a competent person in accordance with the current 
edition of BS 8233 and the WHO Guidelines. The aim of the report will be to establish 
whether any proposed housing could potentially be impacted by noise and odour 
and a scheme of mitigation measures to alleviate any unacceptable impacts. The 
approved scheme of mitigation shall be implemented prior to the beneficial 
occupation of the dwellinghouses hereby approved and shall be permanently 
retained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of housing environment in accordance with 
policy S4 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

10. Prior to the commencement of works, details of a surface water drainage 
scheme, including any attenuation measures to demonstrate that no greater run 
off rate than the existing greenfield rate from the site, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall 
be fully implemented prior to the occupation of any of the dwellinghouses hereby 
approved. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of surface water drainage and minimise the 
risk of flooding from the development in comparison to an assessment of its existing 
undeveloped state, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies 
S29 and S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

11. Any application for reserved matters of scale and/or layout shall include plans 
showing the following:
(a) Cross sections through the site, including the relationship of proposal to off 

site properties to the northern, southern and eastern boundaries of the site;
(b) Details of existing and proposed ground levels;
(c) Proposed finished floor levels of buildings;
(d) Levels of any paths, drives, garages and parking areas;
and the development shall be carried out in accordance with the details so 
approved.

Page 72



Reason: To ensure that the works are carried out to a suitable level in relation to the 
adjoining properties and highways and in the interests of visual amenity.

12. No development shall commence until there has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a schedule of works for the 
managed replacement of the existing allotments on site. The development 
(Including the construction phase) shall be undertaken only in accordance with 
the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure the replacement allotment provision is delivered in a safe and timely 
manner, in accordance with Policy S25 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014.

13. The carriageways, footways, footpaths, cycleways etc shall be designed and 
constructed, drained and lit to a standard suitable for adoption and in this respect 
further details, including longitudinal/ cross sections, shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval before work commences. No work shall be 
commenced until a full specification has been approved. These details shall be in 
accordance with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. 
All works so approved shall be constructed before the development is complete. 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway 
safety.

14. Any application for reserved matters of layout shall include plans showing the 
provision of allocated parking spaces for residents of Marsh Terrace of a number 
that is the same as or exceeds that number identified to be lost due to creation of 
the new access and associated visibility requirements.  A detailed scheme for the 
temporary and permanent arrangements for the provision of these parking 
spaces during the construction phase and once the development is completed, 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing before 
the development commences. The approved scheme shall be adhered to at all 
times during the construction phase and the permanent arrangements shall be 
provided as approved and retained and made available for use for the lifetime of 
the development. 
Reason: To ensure adequate alternative parking provision is made available to 
compensate for that parking provision on street that will require removal as a result of 
the development in the interests of highway safety and residential amenity, in 
accordance with policies S5, S22 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014.

15. The development shall not commence until:
(1) Visibility splays providing clear visibility of 60 metres measured 2.4 metres 
down the centre of the access road and the nearside channel of the major road 
have been provided at the junction of the access road with the county highway. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, or object of any kind shall 
be erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants which exceed 1m in 
height shall be planted or be permitted to grow within the visibility splay which 
obstruct the visibility splays.

Page 73



(2) Measures have been put in place on the County highway to ensure that 
parking on street within the visibility splays is restricted.  
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the construction 
and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions:

16. Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 5, the approved 
strategy shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the development (or 
relevant phase of development) being brought into use.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

17. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the site 
affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where unacceptable risks 
are found remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These shall be implemented 
prior to the development (or relevant phase of development) being brought into 
use. All works shall be undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, 
particularly CLR11.
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

18. No development shall be occupied until the details of future drainage 
management and maintenance are agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall thereafter be maintained and managed at all 
times in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure that the surface water system continues to function as designed.

19. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed above 
ground floor level until details of all external and roofing materials have been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Only the materials so 
approved shall be used in the development as approved.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external appearance 
of the approved scheme which is compatible with the character of the surrounding area, 
in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy DM14 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 74



20. Details of the siting, height and type of all means of enclosure shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
occupation of any dwelling(s) or the use of the allotments commencing. Any such 
means of enclosure shall be constructed prior to the approved development 
being brought into use/occupied. All means of enclosure so constructed shall be 
retained and no part thereof shall be removed or replaced without the prior 
consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible with the 
character of the surrounding area and safeguard the amenity of neighbouring 
properties.

21. Any areas of parking or open space within the approved layout and 
landscaping scheme that do not fall within private domestic gardens or curtilages 
shall be maintained at all times in accordance with a Landscape Management 
Plan that has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any dwellings hereby approved are brought into use. 
Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of public open
space within the residential estate.

22. No dwellings shall be occupied until the estate road, including footways and 
cycleways to serve such dwellings, has been constructed in all respects to base 
course level and street lighting where it is to form part of the estate road has 
been provided and brought into full operational use.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety of the occupiers of residential units hereby 
approved.

23. The dwellings/land use hereby approved shall not be occupied until the 
vehicular access, parking and turning requirements have been constructed in 
accordance with the approved plan and have been made available for use. The 
vehicular access, parking and turning provisions shall be retained and capable of 
use at all times thereafter and shall not be removed or altered without the prior 
consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access, parking and turning provision when 
the development is brought into use. 

Other: 

24.  Any new housing adjacent to or adjoining the northern boundary of the site 
shall be limited to single storey only. 
Reason: It is considered that development shall be limited to single storey in this 
location taking into account the site conditions, levels and character of the surrounding 
area, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S4, S5 and 
DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 75



25. The development hereby permitted shall be limited to the construction of 15 
dwellinghouses only. 
Reason: No information has been provided to demonstrate that a greater number of 
residential units could be provided on site without having a significant adverse impact 
on the locality by way of residential amenity and standard of housing environment, in 
accordance with policies S4, S32 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1. 

26.  The development hereby approved shall provide for a minimum of 576sqm of 
land to be laid out for use as allotments. 
Reason: To ensure an adequate replacement allotment provision in accordance with 
Policy S25 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

27. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within any approved landscaping 
scheme shall be carried out in the first planting season following completion of 
the development and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with other similar size and 
species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the 
impact of the development in the locality.

Advisory Note – Noise and Odour
The Noise and Odour Assessment required by condition 9 will be required to inform the 
layout and design of the proposed housing. The Local Planning Authority would 
therefore advise that this document be prepared and submitted for approval with any 
reserved matters application seeking approval of layout. 

Page 76



Advisory Note – Bats
The Council seeks to highlight that their planning decision has been determined based 
on the merits of the submitted evidence and the proposal. Should any protected species 
be discovered during the course of implementing the development works, then under the 
provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, works should cease and further 
guidance should be sought from Natural England at:
 
Natural England
County Hall, Spetchley Road 
Worcester 
WR5 2NP

Email: enquiries@naturalengland.org.uk 

Telephone: 0300 060 3900 

Opening times: 8:30am to 5pm, Monday to Friday (excluding public holidays)

The Council emphasise that any harm to a protected species or its habitat constitutes a 
criminal offence under the above statutory Act and may be subject to legal prosecution. 

 

Page 77

mailto:enquiries@naturalengland.org.uk


Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Allerdale Borough Council 
Tree Preservation Order No. 12 of 2018

Confirmation of tree preservation order for T1 – Beech tree

Location: Land North of Friar Row, Caldbeck

Recommendation 

That the made Order TPO/12/2018 for the Beech tree at Land North of Friar Row, 
Caldbeck be Confirmed.

Introduction 

A Tree Preservation Order was made on the 24th September 2018 following the refusal of 
planning permission for the erection of a dwelling at land north of Friar Row, Caldbeck. 
Officers considered that the tree merited protection following the legal process explained 
in this report. 

Site 

This is an infill site between a farmhouse (Friar Hall Farm) and its associated farm 
buildings to the east and an adjacent bungalow (Friargarth) to the west in a village 
location. The site is currently used as grazing land, however, historically it has been used 
as a site for a mobile home for which planning permission was granted (ref: 
2/1977/0624). 

To the north of the site is a redundant slurry store and trees.  Beyond the slurry store is 
an attractive landscape of green fields. 

To the south of the existing paddock, that was previously associated with Friar Hall Farm, 
is Friar Row. This is a historic village lane that provides residential access to village 
dwellings and pedestrian access to the church and footpaths that extend into the village 
and the wider countryside. Directly to the west of the site are more historic dwellings and, 
to the east, contemporary dwellings of single and two storey in nature. Directly to the east 
of the site is a contemporary bungalow, Friargarth. 

Historic dwellings relate more directly to the road frontage as shown by Friar Hall Farm, 
whilst, the more modern dwellings are set back from the road frontage to provide for 
parking and garden areas. 

To the south of the site beyond Friar Row is Cald Beck, which provides an attractive 
riverscape and is a tributary leading into the River Eden which is protected as a Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC) and Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). 

Page 81

Agenda Item 7



A historic and listed pedestrian bridge is sited opposite the development site and this 
provides pedestrian access to village paths and access to the grade 1 listed St 
Kentigern’s Church and church yard and the village amenities and facilities beyond. 

Pedestrian routes from Friar Row also link extensive footpaths routes into the countryside 
to include the Cumbria Way. 

Although the site is located in Allerdale, the boundary of the Lake District National Park is 
located directly to the south of the site at the river edge. The majority of Caldbeck falls 
within the Lake District National Park with only a single street (Friar Row) falling within 
Allerdale BC planning control.

The tree is a mature Beech situated within the south westerns area of the site, adjacent 
to Friar Row, being highly visible to public view. It has an estimated trunk diameter of 
99cm at 1.5m above ground level.  It is approximately 19-20 metres in height.  

Legal background 

The primary legislation relating to Tree Preservation Orders is the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by section 192 of the 2008 Planning Act. The 1990 Act 
provides the ability for secondary legislation to be made setting out the statutory 
framework for the making and confirming of Tree Preservation Orders. Currently this is 
the Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012 which 
came into force on 6 April 2012. 

Policy and Guidance Framework 

Following the publication of the first National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 20121 
the government commenced the on-line National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) to 
replace guidance such as circulars. The NPPG is a live document that can be updated. 
At the time of this report it advised that:-

“Local planning authorities can make a Tree Preservation Order if it appears to them to 
be ‘expedient in the interests of amenity to make provision for the preservation of trees or 
woodlands in their area‘.

Authorities can either initiate this process themselves or in response to a request made 
by any other party. When deciding whether an Order is appropriate, authorities are 
advised to take into consideration what ‘amenity’ means in practice, what to take into 
account when assessing amenity value, what ‘expedient’ means in practice, what trees 

1 A 3rd edition of the NPPF now applies (Feb 2019) 

Page 82

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/part/VIII
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/part/VIII
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/605/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/605/regulation/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/198
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/198
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#Tree-Preservation-Orders-made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#amenity-means
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#amenity-value
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#expedient-means
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#what-trees-protected


can be protected and how they can be identified.”2

Amenity 

It is noted that ‘Amenity’ is not defined in the primary or secondary legislation so a 
judgement has to be made.  The NPPG advises that Orders should be used to protect 
selected trees and woodlands if their removal would have a significant negative impact 
on the local environment and its enjoyment by the public. Before authorities make or 
confirm an Order they should be able to show that protection would bring a reasonable 
degree of public benefit in the present or future. It cites various criteria which can be used 
by councils to make the judgement:-

 Visibility - The extent to which the tree can be seen by the public. It should 
normally be visible from a public place, such as a road or footpath, or accessible 
by the public.

 Individual, collective and wider impact - Public visibility alone will not be 
sufficient to warrant an Order.  The Council also needs to consider size and form; 
future potential as an amenity; rarity, cultural or historic value; contribution to, and 
relationship with, the landscape and; contribution to the character or appearance 
of a conservation area.

Where relevant the Council may also consider taking into account other factors, such as 
importance to nature conservation or response to climate change. These factors alone 
would not warrant making an Order.

Expediency 

It may be expedient to make an Order if the Council believes there is a risk of trees being 
felled, pruned or damaged in ways which would have a significant impact on the amenity 
of the area. However, it is not necessary for there to be immediate risk for there to be a 
need to protect trees. In some cases the Council may believe that certain trees are at risk 
as a result of development pressures. As explained in this report, this is the case here. 

History 

Planning permission 2/2018/0190 was refused on 17th October 2018 for the erection of a 
dwelling. The reasons for refusal were as follows:-

1. The development by virtue of introducing a dwelling of the siting and massing 
proposed will neither preserve nor enhance the character and appearance of the 
Caldbeck Conservation Area. The felling of the Beech tree (T1) and introduction 
of the form proposed results in the loss of one of the few fields that penetrate into 

2 Paragraph: 005 Reference ID: 36-005-20140306 Revision date: 06 03 2014

Page 83

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#what-trees-protected
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#trees-identified


the built envelope of the village and defines the historic character of the 
settlement. The loss is particularly harmful given the juxtaposition with the Bridge 
and Church. As such the proposal is contrary to the provisions of policy S27, S32 
and DM17 of the adopted Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.

2. The setting of both the Church of St Kentigern and the Packhorse Bridge will not 
be preserved by the introduction of a dwelling of the siting and massing 
proposed. Much of the historic setting of these assets has been lost but the 
application site is one of the remaining fields in close proximity that defined this 
historic setting and materially contributes to the significance of these assets. The 
development would result in the irrevocable loss of the field and harm to the 
significance of the assets, this harm not being outweighed by the minimal public 
benefits arising from the proposal. As such the proposal is contrary to the 
provisions of policy S27, S32 and DM17 of the adopted Allerdale Local Plan Part 
1 2014.

3. The extent of damage to the significance of the conservation area has not been 
appraised in detail by the applicant at variance with paragraph 189 of the NPPF 
2018

4. The cumulative adverse impact would demonstrably and significantly outweigh 
the benefits of the proposal.

The Council used an external specialist to assess the trees within the site, including the 
specimen now subject of this Order. The specialist used TEMPO (Tree Evaluation 
Method for Preservation Orders) to assess the trees for their amenity value. The value is 
explored in more detail in the assessment section of this report. The expediency was 
judged to be there due to the clear intention for the land to be developed.

The Order was then made on 24th September 2018 and, as per the 2012 Regulations, 
the necessary publicity undertaken. 

Following the expiration of the publicity period and consideration of all representations 
received, the Council can confirm the Order, either without modification or with 
modification, to provide long-term tree protection. They may also decide not to confirm 
the Order, which will stop its effect. The Council cannot confirm an Order unless they 
have first considered any duly made objections or other representations. 

Representations 

Owner 

Objection to TPO stating that LPA have agreed in writing to support the removal of the 
tree and pending an ongoing complaint in relation to the handling of the planning 
application and the TPO process. 

Caldbeck Parish Council 

The Parish Council object to the TPO on the grounds that the tree is not of any great 

Page 84

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/605/regulation/7/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#object-and-comment-on-TPO


significance or importance in the village, the tree does not merit protection under the 
TEMPO assessment carried out on behalf of the Parish Council, the TPO was made to 
thwart the planning application, the tree has a limited future lifespan (10 – 20 years) and 
suffers from soft rot. 2 other mature Beech trees would remain.
Assessment

Process

Having considered the objections received, it is concluded that the application and TPO 
process were adhered to.  Although the report recommending that a TPO was received 
after the TPO was made, officers had received the relevant advice that the tree merited 
protection prior to making the TPO.  The TEMPO assessment carried out on behalf of the 
Council confirms that the tree is worthy of protection.  The tree referred to as suffering 
from soft rot is the adjacent Beech tree and not the tree subject of this TPO.    

Amenity

The Beech tree is considered to be a prominent feature visible within the landscape and 
from various public vantage points. It is of old-mature age class and has a large dominant 
crown shape. The loss of the tree would be of significant impact which replacement 
planting could not mitigate for many years. The tree is in a fair condition and has a 
retention span of between 10 and 20 years.  Although there are other trees on the site, 
the Beech tree subject of this report is the most visible from the road and therefore 
provides the highest amenity.  Whilst the other trees on site are not included in the TPO, 
they are protected by virtue of them being within the Caldbeck Conservation area and the 
Beech tree subject to the TPO forms a principal member of this group of trees which are 
considered important for their cohesion. 

The TEMPO assessment carried out on the Council’s behalf resulted in a score of 16 – 
definitely merits TPO.  This score was reached following the following criteria (listed with 
scores and definitions):-

Part 1: Amenity assessment 

a) Condition and suitability of TPO – score of 3 (fair/satisfactory)
b) Retention span (in years) & suitability for TPO – score of 1 (10-20 just suitable)
c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO – score of 5 (very large trees with 

some visibility, or prominent large trees)
d) Other factors – score of 4 ( tree groups or principal groups important for their 

cohesion) 

Part 2: Expediency assessment

Score of 3 – foreseeable threat to tree.

Part 3: Decision guide

Total score of 16 – definitely merits TPO

Page 85



Whilst the initial TEMPO assessment carried out was in relation to two Beech trees on 
the site, it was concluded not to include the second tree in the TPO due to a presence of 
a fungus affecting its future health.  Officers have re-evaluated the assessment and 
consider that the Beech tree subject to the TPO merits the same scores as the initial 
assessment.

Expediency 

The tree was protected following the submission of a planning application to develop the 
site which resulted in a foreseeable threat to the tree. The planning application was 
refused by Development Panel in October 2018.  An appeal against the refusal to grant 
planning permission has been made to the Planning Inspectorate and is presently 
pending. Should the Planning Inspectorate allow the appeal, this will ultimately allow the 
removal of the tree to facilitate the approved development and would override the 
protection afforded by the TPO.  However, should the appeal be dismissed and also 
whilst its outcome is pending, it is considered that there remains a foreseeable threat to 
the tree. Therefore it is considered expedient to confirm the tree preservation order. 
 

Conclusion

The tree is considered to make a significant contribution to amenity, meets the decision 
criteria under the TEMPO assessment and the expediency test is also met.  It is 
therefore recommended that the TPO be confirmed.  

Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 90



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0590

Proposed 
Development:

Change of use of land from agricultural to domestic use and 
erection of domestic storage building

Location: Holme Croft
Westnewton
Wigton

Applicant: Mr P Bewick

Drawing Numbers: Location Plan
Site Plan
Dwg PB1 Elevations

Recommendation: Refuse

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Heritage Assets It is considered that the proposal would not preserve or enhance 
the setting of the Westnewton Conservation Area contrary to 
Policies S6(f) and S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan.

Landscape and 
Visual Impact

Officers consider that the proposal would not assimilate well with 
existing development and would therefore have an adverse impact 
on the traditional character of the village and the open and 
undulating landscape that extends beyond. 

Proposal

Planning consent is sought for the change of use of land from agricultural use to 
domestic use and the erection of a domestic storage building within that area of land. The 
change of use would relate to an area of land measuring 260sqm, positioned to the north 
east of the existing dwelling Holme Croft.  

The proposed building measures 13.7m in length, 12.2m in width and would have a total 
height of 4.2m.  It is proposed to be constructed of concrete panels, with Yorkshire 
boarding above, and the roof to be grey fibre cement. The design of the proposed 
building is similar to modern agricultural buildings, with fenestration limited to a large set 
of doors, two double doors and a single door within the south west elevation, and a 
shallow roof pitch. 
   

Page 91

Agenda Item 8



Site

The application site is located to the north east of Holme Croft, which is a residential 
property of traditional design, two storeys in height, constructed of red sandstone, with a 
slate roof. This dwelling has an attached lean to garage to the western side, also 
constructed of sandstone and slate. The property has a driveway and garden to the front, 
bounded by a low stone wall, with further garden to the rear. The application site is part 
of an open agricultural field to the east and north of this dwelling, presently separated 
from Holme Croft by a solid wall. Land levels rise to the north. A mature hedgerow forms 
the boundary of the application site with the adjacent road (B5301).    

The proposal site lies to the north-eastern edge of the village of Westnewton and is 
located adjacent to the boundary of the Westnewton Conservation Area.  When 
approaching the village from the north, land levels fall and views are predominantly of 
domestic scale buildings of traditional appearance facing onto a triangular village green 
with mature tree, with the spire of St Matthews sometimes visible. The village continues 
within a linear arrangement to the south west. 

Westnewton village is predominantly residential, interspersed with some working farm 
holdings. The village is generally linear, with residential and agricultural buildings of 
traditional appearance and materials (stone/render and slate) predominantly lining the 
main road, sometimes set back with open greens. Modern farm buildings are generally 
located to the rear of these traditional properties and are less visible therefore, with the 
exception of Westnewton Hall Farm at the southwestern end of the village. 

Relevant Planning History

2/2018/0391 – Erection of a small agricultural building – Refused.  

This previous application was at the same location and was refused on the following 
grounds:

The proposal, by reason of its siting, scale and design/materials, would not relate 
well to the character and form of this edge of village location and would appear 
intrusive and overly prominent, having an adverse impact on the visual amenities 
of the locality and the character of the landscape, contrary to Policies DM6, S6(f), 
S4, S32 and S33 and of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 2014.

The proposal by reason of its siting, scale and design/materials would not 
preserve or enhance the setting of the Westnewton Conservation Area and would 
result in harm to the heritage asset that is not outweighed by the public benefits, 
contrary to Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 2014 and 
Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2018).

Page 92



Representations

Parish Council 

No objections.

Minerals and Waste 

No objections.  

Other representations

The application has been advertised by letter, site notice and press advert. No 
representations have been received. 

The application has been called in for determination by Development Panel by Cllr Lister. 

Duties

Section 72 of the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Area) 
Act 1990, requires that the Local Planning Authority in the exercise of its functions, must 
pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of that area. 

Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved Settlement limits

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

        Policy S1 Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development
        Policy S2 Sustainable Development Principles
        Policy S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth
        Policy S4 Design Principles
        Policy S5 Development Principles
        Policy S6f Area Based – Aspatria and locality

Policy S24 Green Infrastructure
Policy S25 Sports, Leisure and Open Space        
Policy S27 Heritage Assets

        Policy S32 Safeguarding Amenity
        Policy S33 Landscape
        Policy DM14 Standards of Good Design

Page 93



Other material considerations

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

Draft Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) Submission Draft

SA2 Settlement boundaries
SA51 Amenity Greenspace
SA52 Green Infrastructure networks

Policy weighting

Notwithstanding the duties under section 72 of the Town and Counrty Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Area) Act 1990, section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the development 
plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the 
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 
policies have primacy in decision making.

A material consideration is the provisions of the revised NPPF. Paragraph 213 of the 
revised NPPF (2019) advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 
vary according to their degree of consistency with the framework (the closer the policies 
in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).
The Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) policies pre-date the revised NPPF and therefore full 
weight can only be afforded to those policies that are considered consistent with the 
revised NPPF. The majority of policies are considered to remain consistent. However, 
having regard to a further material consideration – the appeal decision for land at Great 
Broughton (PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948), it is considered that policies S3 and S5 
of the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 are out of date and can no longer carry 
full weight insofar as they relate to the application of the existing settlement limits which 
date from the 1999 Plan and housing numbers. 

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires a presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
For decision taking this means approving development that accords with an up to date 
plan or where policies are out of date, granting permission unless:

i. The application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provide a clear reason for refusing the development, or

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies of the Framework taken as a 
whole. 

In this instance, policies within the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance are applicable to the determination of the application. The site lies adjacent to 
the Westnewton Conservation Area.  For this reason, policies within the NPPF relating to 
the consideration of heritage assets are relevant. The NPPF’s section addressing impact 
on Heritage Assets and their setting is used to inform the application of policy S27 of the 
Local Plan and the section 72 duty. 

Page 94



Whilst policies S3 and S5 are out of date in relation to the settlement limits, they are not 
considered to be out of date in all respects.  Nor does it mean that other Local Plan Part 
1 policies are out of date and should not be afforded substantial or full weight where they 
are consistent with the provisions of the NPPF 2019. Policies other than S3 and S5 are 
considered to maintain their full weight.

Paragraph 48 of the revised NPPF specifies that weight can be given to emerging plans 
according to their stage of preparation, the extent to which there are unresolved 
objections and the degree of consistency with the Framework.

Assessment 

Heritage Assets

Policy S27 of the ALP Part 1 seek to conserve and enhance heritage assets within the 
Plan area in accordance with their level of significance, reflecting advice within the 
revised NPPF. The proposal is not located within the Westnewton Conservation Area, 
however it lies adjacent to it, and therefore Officers consider that the proposal has the 
potential to impact on its setting. The Council therefore must pay special regard to the 
duty to preserve or enhance the character or appearance of this Conservation Area. 
Officers have accounted for this as part of their assessment.
  
In considering the significance of this heritage asset, regard is had to Westnewton 
Conservation Area Appraisal carried out in 2008. This considered the positive 
characteristics of the village, summarised as follows:- 

 Distinctly agricultural character.

 Derived from the predominance of farm buildings and farm workers cottages, the 
combination of dwellings with gardens.

 Paddocks and farmyards result in a generously spaced and informal arrangement 
of buildings.

 The use of red sandstone as the traditional building material, in conjunction with 
Westmorland green slate confirming the very specific location of the village.

 The presence of many mature native trees or line of trees at intervals within the 
village, particularly in the eastern part.

 A sense of enclosure, physical self-containment and rural tranquillity.  

Whilst it is acknowledged that this is a farming community, one of the negative 
characteristics of the village has been summarised within the Conservation Area 
Appraisal as ‘the functional and over-economical design of many modern farm 
outbuildings’. 

Whilst the current application has been amended from a building for ‘agricultural’ 

Page 95



purposes to one for ‘domestic’ use, it remains large is scale, particularly for a domestic 
outbuilding, and it retains an appearance similar to modern agricultural buildings, through 
a combination of its design and shallow roof, a lack of fenestration and relief and 
materials. Noting the minor changes to the size and height of the proposed building on 
the current submission and the change to materials, those changes are not considered 
sufficient to address the harm identified by the proposal, constituting reasons for refusal 
of the previous application. 

The proposed building of modern argricutural appearance and materials would be clearly 
visible alongside predominantly traditional and small scale stone and slate buildings at 
the eastern end of the village, particularly along its frontage. Due to the larger scale of 
the building, its appearance, and its positioning close to the highway, it is considered that 
the building would appear to be at odds with the traditional appearance and form, scale 
and low lying nature of those traditional buildings that lie within the Conservation Area at 
the eastern end. These traditional buildings group together to contribute significantly to 
the character of the Conservation Area and detracting from and being at odds with them, 
the proposal would result in harm to the significance of the Conservation Area at this 
location, failing to preserve or enhance. 

This harm would be perceived when viewing the proposal from within the Conservation 
Area itself, looking northeast, and when approaching Westnewton from the north. 
When entering the village from the north, the modern building would be seen to the 
forefront, drawing the eye from the traditional buildings configured towards the village 
green/junction at the western end of the village.  The proposal would not respect or 
positively contribute to the existing traditional character and features of the village. It 
would add a building of a particular design and materials that has attracted specific 
criticism within the Conservation Area Appraisal.

The purpose of the proposed building is stated as providing ancillary domestic space to 
Holme Croft, including the restoring and keeping of antique tractors. There are not 
perceived to be any public benefits that would outweigh the identified harm to this 
heritage asset.  As such, it is considered that the proposal would not preserve or 
enhance character of the Westnewton Conservation Area contrary to Policies S6(f) and 
S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan.  

Landscape and Visual Impact

Amongst other criteria, Policy S4 stipulates that new development should be visually 
attractive, of appropriate scale and appearance, and should respond positively to the 
character, history and distinctiveness of its location, integrating well with existing 
development. Policies S32 and S33 seek to ensure that new development responds to 
the local area in terms of landscape character, visual amenity and distinctive character.  

As indicated above, the proposed building is to be 13.7.29m x 12.2m and have a total 
height of 4.2m.  It is to be of modern appearance and materials which includes concrete 
panels with Yorkshire boarding, and the roof to be grey fibre cement.  An application for 
an agricultural building has been refused recently under planning reference 2/2018/0391.  
Officers consider that the design retains the appearance of a modern agricultural 
building. Given the traditional appearance of existing buildings to this edge of the village 

Page 96



(typically low level buildings of stone or render), Officers consider that the proposed 
modern design and materials would be at odds with these traditional rural buildings and 
the traditional character in the immediate locality. 

The proposed building is to be sited on an open undeveloped field on rising land, albeit it 
is noted that attempts are being made to replicate the floor level of the adjacent property.  
The building would not be grouped within an established farm or among other buildings. 
It would sit within the field adjacent Holme Croft, extending the village form further into 
the open countryside. Although a hedge exists to the front, the proposed building would 
be clearly visible from the highway when leaving the village heading north and east and 
when approaching the village particularly from the north. Although it is acknowledged that 
the proposal has been reduced following the recent refusal and the applicant confirms 
that the site is to be dug down 1m lower than the application site, it is considered that the 
building proposed would still be intrusive at this location. It would not assimilate well with 
existing development and would therefore have an adverse impact on the traditional 
character of the village and the open and undulating landscape that extends beyond. 
  
For these reasons, Officers consider that the proposal would be contrary to Policies S4, 
S32 and S33 of the Allerdale Local Plan and therefore recommend refusal. 

   
Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal does not 
have any local finance considerations.

Conclusion

For the reasons outlined above, Officers consider that the siting, scale and design of the 
proposal is inappropriate at this location and in turn, this would have an adverse impact 
on the setting of Westnewton Conservation Area. Officers consider the proposal is 
contrary to policies S4, S6(f), S27, S32, S33 and DM14 and therefore the application is 
recommended for refusal.  

Page 97



Annex 1

Reasons for refusal

1. The proposal, by reason of its siting, scale and design/materials, would not 
relate well to the character and form of this edge of village location and would 
appear intrusive and overly prominent, having an adverse impact on the 
visual amenities of the locality and the character of the landscape,  contrary 
to Policies S4,  S6(f), S32 and S33 and of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
Adopted July 2014.

2. The proposal by reason of its siting, scale and design/materials would not 
preserve or enhance the  setting of the Westnewton Conservation Area and 
would result in harm to the heritage asset that is not outweighed by the public 
benefits, contrary to Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted 
July 2014 and Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).  

Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 102


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 2/2018/0532 Residential development for 5 detached dwellings including associated infrastructure and landscaping, Land at Ellerbeck Brow, Brigham, Cockermouth
	6 2/2018/0372 Demolition of existing dwelling and re-development to provide part residential development and part allotments (outline with all matters reserved), Land rear of Moor House, Marsh Terrace, Ellenborough, Maryport
	7 TPO/2018/12 - Tree Preservation Order for T1 Beech Tree, Land north of Friar Row, Caldbeck
	8 2/2018/0590 Change of use of land from agricultural to domestic use and erection of domestic storage building, Holme Croft, Westnewton, Wigton

